




The mineral resource estimate was completed by  
SRK Consulting (Canada) Inc. who are independent  
of the Company for both JORC 2012 and  
Canadian NI-43-101 reporting standards. Refer to  
the ASX announcement dated 4 December 2017  
for further details.

The current mineral resource is west of the James Bay 
Road and remains open to the east and the west at 
depths greater than - 335m below surface. Numerous 
untested pegmatite’s outcrop and sub-crop elsewhere 
within the claim area of the project. Further drilling 
for infrastructure sterilisation has commenced and 
metallurgical test work for process design is progressing 
in Perth, Western Australia

During the December quarter, the James Bay Project 
Notice was submitted to both the Federal Government 
of Canada and the Quebec Government for 
determination. The Project Notice submission marks 
the start of the regulatory process aimed at securing 
the necessary mining and infrastructure licenses. It also 
advises the Government of the proposed scale, scope 
and timeline of the James Bay Project so that it may set 
the appropriate levels of regulatory assessment. The 
preparation and submission of this project description is 
the initial step in the environmental impact assessment 
process, where the Company advises in writing, the 
relevant Québec ministry (Ministère du Développement 
durable, de l’Environnement et de la Lutte contre les 
changements climatiques, or “MDDELCC“) and the 

Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency  
(“CEAA“), of its intention to undertake the project.  
The project description also allows the relevant 
government agencies involved to determine the type  
of environmental study to be conducted and to issue  
a formal notice indicating the nature, area and scope  
of the study expected from the project promoter.  
The Project Notice outlines the general characteristics  
of the project. 

The project team is focused on concluding the activities 
required for the Feasibility Study (“FS”), both for the 
upstream mine and concentrator plant, as well as a 
downstream lithium conversion facility.

20 GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT Review of Operations



CORPORATE

EQUITY RAISING

In February 2017, the Company received commitments 
to subscribe for $61 million worth of ordinary shares 
via a private placement to domestic and international 
institutional investors (“Placement”). The Placement 
consisted of the issue of 1,130 million new fully paid 
shares at a price of $0.54 per share, representing a 
9.2% discount to the Company’s closing price on  
29 February 2017, of $0.595. The capital raising was 
significantly oversubscribed, with strong support shown 
by both existing shareholders and in particular new 
overseas investors. 

The proceeds of the Placement, together with existing 
funds available to the Company, served to strengthen 
the Company’s balance sheet and increase its financial 
flexibility to progress its development work at the Sal 
de Vida and James Bay projects, as well as for general 
corporate purposes.

NEW DEBT FACILITY

In February 2017, the Group entered into an 
agreement with BNP Paribas for a new secured debt 
facility for up to US$40 million, with the principal 
purpose of repaying in full the outstanding balance due 
to OCP Asia and for general corporate requirements.

Key terms were:

•	 Facility A – US$10 million Term loan,  
maturing 31 January 2018

•	 Facility B – US$15 million Bridge loan,  
repayable on or before 31 December 2017

•	 Facility C – US$15 million Revolving loan,  
maturing 31 January 2018 - yearly extensions  
of 12 months subject to renewal conditions

After the Group completed the equity capital  
fundraising of $61 million only tranches A and C of  
the BNP Paribas facility were executed, resulting in a 
total US$25 million facility. As at 31 December 2017, 
the facility had been repaid in full.

SETTLEMENT OF LEGAL DISPUTE – TIANQI 

During the June quarter, Galaxy Lithium Australia 
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) 
received US$2.1 million in full and final settlement of 
the legal proceedings arising from a dispute concerning 
the Amended and Restated Share Purchase Agreement 
originally made on 29 April 2014, amended and 
restated with effect from 16 January 2016 with Galaxy 
Lithium Australia Limited, Galaxy Resources Limited, 
Tianqi HK Co., Limited (“Tianqi”) and Sichuan Tianqi 
Lithium Industries, for the sale of Galaxy Lithium 
Australia Limited’s shares in Galaxy Lithium International 
Limited, the entity which held the Jiangsu Lithium 
Carbonate plant, to Tianqi. Refer to note 11(a) of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended  
31 December 2016 for further details of the dispute that 
is now settled.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting held  
on 18 May 2017, shareholders approved the 
consolidation of the issued capital of the Company  
on the basis of 1 share for every 5 shares held.

NEW DIRECTORS APPOINTED

Mr Peter Bacchus and Mr John Turner were appointed 
as Independent Non-Executive Directors of the 
Company with effect from 3 January 2017.  
Ms Xi Xi was appointed as an Independent  
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect 
from 15 May 2017 and resigned on 11 September 
2017. Ms Florencia Heredia was appointed as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
with effect from 2 January 2018.
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT  
TO REPORTING DATE
Other than the matter set out below, in the interval 
between the end of the year and the date of this  
report there has not arisen any item, transaction or 
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the 
opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect 
significantly the operations of the Group, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group,  
in future financial years:

•	 On 2 January 2018, Ms Florencia Heredia was 
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company; and

•	 On 3 January 2018, a total of 2,242,171 fully 
paid ordinary shares were issued as non-cash 
consideration utilising the cashless exercise facility 
in relation to the exercise of 2,475,000 unlisted 
options exercisable at $0.365 per share.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 
AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS
The Company and Group intend to continue to seek 
ways of unlocking and realising value from the existing 
assets of Sal de Vida and James Bay and to seek new 
investment opportunities in the lithium sector. 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
REGULATION AND 
PERFORMANCE
The Consolidated Entity holds various environmental 
licences and authorities, issued under Australian law,  
to regulate its mining, exploration and chemicals 
activities in Australia. These licences include conditions 
and regulation in relation to specifying limits on 
discharges into the environment, rehabilitation of areas 
disturbed during the course of mining and exploration 
activities and the storage of hazardous substances.

There have been no material breaches of the Group’s 
licences and all mining, exploration and chemicals 
activities have been undertaken in compliance with the 
relevant environmental regulations.
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INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the year, the Company incurred premiums of 
$122,850 (2016: $102,848) to insure the directors, 
secretary and/or officers of the Company.

The liability insured is the indemnification of the 
Company against any legal liability to third parties 
arising out of any Directors or Officers duties in 
their capacity as a Director or Officer other than 
indemnification not permitted by law.

No liability has arisen under this indemnity as at the 
date of this report.

PROCEEDINGS ON 
BEHALF OF THE 
COMPANY
There are no proceedings on behalf of the Company 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001  
in the year ended 31 December 2017 or at the date  
of this report.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
During the year PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”),  
the Group’s auditor, has performed certain other 
services in addition to their statutory duties. 

The Board has considered the non-audit services 
provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied 
that the provision of those non-audit services during 
the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not 
compromise, the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate 
governance procedures adopted by the Group 
and have been reviewed by the audit committee 
to ensure they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 the non-audit services provided do not undermine 
the general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not 
involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management or decision making 
capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for 
the Group or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

Details of amounts paid or payable to PwC can be 
found at note 24.

23GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORTReview of Operations



The remuneration report is set out under the  
following main headings:

A.	 Principles of compensation	
B. 	 Details of remuneration	
C. 	Service agreements	
D. 	Share-based compensation	
E. 	 Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

The information provided within this remuneration report includes remuneration disclosures that are required 	
under section 300A of the Corporations Act.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED
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A.	 PRINCIPLES OF COMPENSATION

Remuneration is referred to as compensation throughout 
this report. 

Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) have authority  
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Company and the Group, including 
directors of the Company and other executives.  
KMP comprise the directors of the Company and  
senior executives for the Group.

Compensation levels for key management personnel  
of the Group are competitively set to attract and  
retain appropriately qualified and experienced  
directors and executives. The remuneration committee 
obtains independent advice on the appropriateness  
of compensation packages of the Group given trends  
in comparative companies both locally and 
internationally and the objectives of the Group’s 
compensation strategy.

The compensation structures explained below are 
designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, 
reward the achievement of strategic objectives  
and achieve the broader outcome of creation of  
value for shareholders. The compensation structures  
take into account:

•	 the capability and experience of the key 
management personnel;

•	 the key management personnel’s ability to  
control the relevant segments’ performance;

•	 the Group’s performance including the  
achievement of various corporate goals. 

Compensation packages include a mix of fixed and 
variable compensation and short-term and long-term 
performance-based incentives that are assessed on  
a periodic basis.

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides 
non-cash benefits to its KMP and contributes to  
post-employment superannuation plans on their behalf. 

Fixed compensation

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation 
(which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes 
any fringe benefits tax charges related to employee 
benefits including motor vehicles), as well as employer 
contributions to superannuation funds.

Performance linked compensation

Shareholders approved the establishment of the Galaxy 
Resources Limited Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)  
on 29 May 2016. The purpose of the LTIP is to reward 
employees, contractors, consultants and Directors of the 
Company for successful management and development 
of the Company, assist in retention and motivation 
of employees and Directors and provide incentive to 
employees and Directors to grow shareholder value. 
Refer to Note 23 for details of options issued under  
the LTIP.

The fair value of services received in return for share 
options granted is measured by reference to the fair 
value of the share options granted. The estimate of the 
fair value of these share options granted is measured 
using generally accepted valuation techniques including 
Black Scholes and Monte-Carlo (K1) simulations.  
The Company has applied an appropriate probability 
weighting to factor the likelihood of the satisfaction of 
non-vesting conditions.

Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee takes  
into account the performance of the Group over a 
number of years when recommending the overall level 
of KMP compensation. 

Non-executive directors

Total cash salaries and fees for all non-executive 
directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the  
22 December 2010 General Meeting, is not to exceed 
$800,000 per annum and is set based on advice from 
external advisors with reference to fees paid to other 
non-executive directors of comparable companies. 

Effective 1 January 2017 the Chairperson receives 
US$300,000 (2016: US$120,000), non-Executive 
Director $100,000 per annum (2016: $50,000) all 
inclusive of superannuation. Directors’ fees cover all 
main board activities and memberships of committees.
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B.	 DETAILS OF REMUNERATION

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Total remuneration received, or due and receivable, by KMP of the Group	 10,234,340 1,407,147

The details of remuneration of the KMP and specified executives of the Group are set out in the following tables. The key 
management personnel of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 are the following:

Name Role Period of employment

Non – Executive Directors
Martin Rowley Non-Executive Director Full year

Jian-Nan Zhang Non-Executive Director Full year

Peter Bacchus Non-Executive Director From 2 January 2017

John Turner Non-Executive Director From 2 January 2017

Xi Xi Non-Executive Director From 15 May 2017 and resigned 
11 September 2017

Executives
Anthony Tse Managing Director and CEO Full year

Mark Pensabene Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) From 6 February 2017

Nicholas Rowley Director Corporate Development Full year

Alan Rule Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) From 10 April 2017

Remuneration for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Share-based payments

Name

Cash salary 
& fees 

$
Other 

$
Superannuation 

$
Options 

$
SARS 

$

Total 
Remuneration 

$

Non – Executive 
Directors
Martin Rowley 392,796 - - 2,395,989 - 2,788,785
Jian-Nan Zhang 91,324 - 8,676 299,499 - 399,499
Peter Bacchus 99,178 - - 299,499 - 398,677
John Turner 99,178 - - 299,499 - 398,677
Xi Xi 31,861 - - - - 31,861

Executives
Anthony Tse 519,124 - - 2,395,989 - 2,915,113
Mark Pensabene (i) 316,346 - 19,404 672,785 305,809 1,314,344
Nicholas Rowley 235,001 - 19,832 672,785 - 927,618
Alan Rule (ii) 211,154 - 14,738 672,785 161,089 1,059,766

Total 1,995,962 - 62,650 7,708,830 466,898 10,234,340

(i)	 commenced employment on 6 February 2017
(ii)	 commenced employment on 10 April 2017
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Remuneration for the Year Ended 31 December 2016

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits Share-based payments

Name

Cash salary 
& fees 

$
Other 

$
Superannuation 

$
Options 

$
SARS 

$

Total 
Remuneration 

$

Executives
Anthony Tse 401,959 - - - - 401,959
Charles Whitfield 198,123 335,827 - - - 533,950
Rowen Colman 97,542 - - - - 97,542
Nicholas Rowley 112,500 15,000 12,113 - - 139,613

Non – Executive 
Directors
Martin Rowley 161,150 - - - - 161,150
Jian-Nan Zhang 45,662 - 4,338 - - 50,000
Michael Fotios - - - 22,933 - 22,933

Total 1,016,936 350,827 16,451 22,933 - 1,407,147

C.	 SERVICE AGREEMENTS

ANTHONY TSE 

Term of Agreement – Mr Tse’s Service Agreement is for 
an unlimited tenure.

Agreement 
Under the terms of the agreement, Mr Tse receives  
fees of US$400,000 (2016: US$300,000) per annum 
paid monthly. This was reviewed by the Board  
effective 1 January 2017. Remuneration is based  
on market factors.

Termination 
Termination of the service agreement can occur with 
immediate effect by notification from either party. 

MARK PENSABENE

Term of Agreement – Mr Pensabene’s Employment 
contract is for an unlimited tenure.

Agreement 
Under the terms of the contract, Mr Pensabene receives 
a salary of $350,000 excluding superannuation per 
annum. Remuneration is based on market factors and 
reviewed annually. 

Termination 
Termination of the Employment contract can occur by 
either party giving 6 months’ notice. 

NICHOLAS ROWLEY

Term of Agreement – Mr Rowley’s Employment contract 
is for an unlimited tenure.

Agreement 
Under the terms of the contract, Mr Rowley receives 
a salary of $235,000 excluding superannuation per 
annum. Remuneration is based on market factors and 
reviewed annually. 

Termination 
Termination of the Employment contract can occur by 
either party giving 1 months’ notice. 

ALAN RULE

Term of Agreement – Mr Rule’s Employment contract is 
for an unlimited tenure.

Agreement 
Under the terms of the contract, Mr Rule receives a 
salary of $300,000 excluding superannuation per 
annum. Remuneration is based on market factors and 
reviewed annually. 

Termination 
Termination of the Employment contract can occur by 
either party giving 6 months’ notice. 
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D.	 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

i.	 Shares issued

No shares were issued to KMP during the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

ii.	 Options issued

12,500,000 options were issued to KMP during the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 24,750,000: Nil). 
Details as follows:

Options
Date options 

granted
Number of options 

issued
Issue price 

$

Value of options 
issued  

$

Directors
Martin Rowley 18 May 2017 4,000,000 2.78 $3,575,000

Anthony Tse 18 May 2017 4,000,000 2.78 $3,575,000

Peter Bacchus 18 May 2017 500,000 2.78 $446,875

John Turner 18 May 2017 500,000 2.78 $446,875

Jian-Nan Zhang 18 May 2017 500,000 2.78 $446,875

Other KMP
Mark Pensabene 30 May 2017 1,000,000 2.78 $1,012,750

Alan Rule 30 May 2017 1,000,000 2.78 $1,012,750

Nicholas Rowley 30 May 2017 1,000,000 2.78 $1,012,750

Total 12,500,000

iii.	 Share appreciation rights issued 

3,000,000 (600,000 post consolidation) share appreciation rights (SARS) were issued to KMP during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

SARS
Date SARS  

granted

Number of  
SARS issued  

(Post consolidation)

Issue price  
(post consolidation) 

$

Value of  
SARS issued  

$

Other Key Management Personnel
Mark Pensabene 9 November 2016 400,000 1.765 $294,900

Alan Rule 11 April 2017 200,000 2.358 $394,400
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E.	 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES RELATING TO KMP

The movement during the financial year in the number of options over ordinary shares and number of ordinary shares in 
the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each KMP, including their related parties, is as follows:

 
Shares 

Balance at  
1 January 

2017

Exercise of 
options/ 

SARS Consolidation

Net  
change  
other

Acquisitions/
Disposals

Balance at 
31 December 

2017

Directors
Martin Rowley 20,498,170 369,712 (16,398,536) - 50,000 4,519,346

Anthony Tse 23,518,644 - (18,814,915) - 40,000 4,743,729

Peter Bacchus - 50,182 - - - 50,182

John Turner - - - - 25,000 25,000

Jian-Nan Zhang 1,794,411 46,214 (1,435,528) - 20,000 425,097

Other KMP
Mark Pensabene (i) - - - 32,500 - 32,500

Alan Rule (ii) - - - - - -

Nicholas Rowley 2,000,000 - (1,600,000) - (200,000) 200,000

Total shares 47,811,225 466,108 (38,248,979) 32,500 (65,000) 9,995,854

(i)	 commenced employment on 6 February 2017
(ii)	 commenced employment on 10 April 2017

 
Unlisted  
options

Balance at  
1 January 

2017
Granted as 

remuneration
Exercised/ 

expired Consolidation 

Balance as 
31 December 

2017

Vested and 
exercisable at 
31 December 

2017 

Directors
Martin Rowley - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1,800,000

Anthony Tse 1,000,000 4,000,000 (200,000) (800,000) 4,000,000 1,800,000

Peter Bacchus - 500,000 (225,000) - 275,000 -

John Turner - 500,000 - - 500,000 225,000

Jian-Nan Zhang - 500,000 - - 500,000 225,000

Other KMP
Mark Pensabene - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 450,000

Alan Rule - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 450,000

Nicholas Rowley - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 450,000

Total options 1,000,000 12,500,000 (425,000) (800,000) 12,275,000 5,400,000
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Share 
appreciation 
rights (SARS)

Balance at  
1 January 

2017
Granted as 

remuneration
SARS 

converted Consolidation 

Balance as 
31 December 

2017

Vested and 
exercisable at 
31 December 

2017

Directors
Martin Rowley 2,000,000 - (400,000) (1,600,000) - -

Anthony Tse 10,000,000 - - (8,000,000) 2,000,000 2,000,000

Jian-Nan Zhang 250,000 - (50,000) (200,000) - -

Other KMP
Mark Pensabene - 2,000,000 - (1,600,000) 400,000 200,000

Alan Rule - 1,000,000 - (800,000) 200,000 -

Nicholas Rowley 1,000,000 - (200,000) (800,000) - -

Total SARS 13,250,000 3,000,000 (650,000) (13,000,000) 2,600,000 2,200,000

End of Remuneration Report

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company is of a kind referred to in “ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191”, issued by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts 
in the Directors’ Report and accompanying Financial Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Rounding Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors received the attached independence 
declaration set out on page 31 and forms part of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Anthony Tse 
Chief Executive Oficer & 
Managing Director

Dated at Perth on 22 March 2018.

GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED
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Unlisted options
Balance at
1 January

2017

Granted as
remuneration

Exercised/
expired

Consolidation
Balance as

31 December
2017

Vested and
exercisable

at
31 December

2017

Directors
Martin Rowley - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1,800,000
Anthony Tse 1,000,000 4,000,000 (200,000) (800,000) 4,000,000 1,800,000
Peter Bacchus - 500,000 (225,000) - 275,000 -
John Turner - 500,000 - - 500,000 225,000
Jian-Nan Zhang - 500,000 - - 500,000 225,000

Other KMP
Mark Pensabene - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 450,000
Alan Rule - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 450,000
Nicholas Rowley - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 450,000

Total options 1,000,000 12,500,000 (425,000) (800,000) 12,275,000 5,400,000

Share
appreciation

rights (SARS)

Balance at
1 January

2017

Granted as
remuneration

SARS
converted

Consolidation
Balance as

31 December
2017

Vested and
exercisable at
31 December

2017

Directors
Martin Rowley 2,000,000 - (400,000) (1,600,000) - -
Anthony Tse 10,000,000 - - (8,000,000) 2,000,000 2,000,000
Jian-Nan Zhang 250,000 - (50,000) (200,000) - -

Other KMP
Mark Pensabene - 2,000,000 - (1,600,000) 400,000 200,000
Alan Rule - 1,000,000 - (800,000) 200,000 -
Nicholas Rowley 1,000,000 - (200,000) (800,000) - -

Total SARS 13,250,000 3,000,000 (650,000) (13,000,000) 2,600,000 2,200,000

End of Remuneration Report

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is of a kind referred to in “ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191”,
issued by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Directors’ Report
and accompanying Financial Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report have been rounded off in accordance with that Rounding
Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors received the attached independence declaration set
out on page 14 and forms part of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Anthony Tse
Chief Executive Oficer &
Managing Director

Dated at Perth on 22 March 2018.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Consolidated Income Statement and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income	

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 201732



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT 
OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Note
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Income Statement for the period
Operating sales revenue 3 125,603 -

Cost of sales 3 (92,078) -

Gross profit 33,525 -
Other income 3 2,519 4,468

Other expenses 3 (24,092) (13,103)

Impairment reversal of property, plant and equipment 16 - 75,691

Profit before income tax and net finance expenses 11,952 67,056
Finance income 3 536 29

Finance expenses 3 (6,323) (9,065)

Profit before taxation 6,165 58,020
Income tax (expense)/benefit 19 (5,999) 64,686

Net Profit after tax for the period 166 122,706

Net Profit after tax attributable to:

Owners of Galaxy Resources Limited 166 122,788

Non-controlling interests - (82)

166 122,706

Other comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the period
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation differences – foreign operations (5,110) (3,974)

Revaluation of available for sale financial assets 16,899 (1,898)

Income tax relating to revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (5,070) 438

Other comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the period 6,719 (5,434)

Total comprehensive Income for the period 6,885 117,272

Total comprehensive Income for the period attributable to:

Owners of Galaxy Resources Limited 6,885 117,494

Non-controlling interests - (222)

6,885 117,272

Earnings per share for income from continuing operations  
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company

Basic income per share (cents per share) 4 0.042 8.33

Diluted income per share (cents per share) 4 0.042 8.09

Earnings per share for income attributable to the ordinary  
equity holders of the Company

Basic income per share (cents per share) 4 0.042 8.33

Diluted income per share (cents per share) 4 0.042 8.09

The above Consolidated Income Statement and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

Note
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 6 59,743 9,327

Other receivables and prepayments 10 17,748 2,163

Inventories 11 11,477 11,457

Total Current Assets 88,968 22,947

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 16 321,644 343,468

Exploration and evaluation assets 17 130,722 123,183

Available-for-sale financial assets 13 20,302 -

Deferred tax asset 19 53,619 64,686

Total Non-Current Assets 526,287 531,337

Total Assets 615,255 554,284

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 12 30,504 14,082

Deferred income 14 - 18,374

Provisions 18 503 177

Interest bearing liabilities 5 - 40,242

Total Current Liabilities 31,007 72,875

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 12 2,230 -

Provisions 18 10,660 8,423

Total Non-Current Liabilities 12,890 8,423

Total Liabilities 43,897 81,298

Net Assets 571,358 472,986

EQUITY
Contributed equity 9 a) 787,408 694,332

Reserves 9 b) 8,333 4,169

Accumulated Losses (224,383) (225,515)

Total Equity 571,358 472,986

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Contributed 
Equity 
$’000 

Note 9(a)
 Reserves 

$’000

Accumulated 
losses 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Non-
controlling 

interest 
$’000

Total 
equity 
$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 459,217 (6,631) (353,963) 98,621 4,180 102,801

Profit - - 122,788 122,788 (82) 122,706

Other comprehensive loss - (5,294) - (5,294) (140) (5,434)

Total comprehensive income 
(loss)

- (5,294) 122,788 117,494 (222) 117,272

Transaction costs arising on 
share issue

(19) - - (19) - (19)

GMM Acquisition 230,903 11,312 - 242,214 - 242,214

Transfer of reserve upon 
forfeit of options

- (5,660) 5,660 - - -

Transfer of reserve upon 
exercise of option

932 (932) - - - -

Exercise of share options 1,710 - - 1,710 - 1,710

Share-based payment 
transactions

1,589 7,417 - 9,006 -- 9,006

Acquisition of non-controlling 
interest

- 3,958 - 3,959 (3,959) -

Balance at 31 December 2016 694,332 4,169 (225,515) 472,986 - 472,986

Profit - - 166 166 - 166

Other comprehensive income - 6,719 - 6,719 - 6,719

Total comprehensive income - 6,719 166 6,885 - 6,885

Placement 61,020 - - 61,020 - 61,020

Transaction costs arising on 
share issue

(2,611) - - (2,611) - (2,611)

Exercise of share options 18,488 - - 18,488 - 18,488

Transfer of reserve upon 
exercise of option

13,606 (13,606) - - - -

Transfer of reserve upon 
forfeit of options

- (966) 966 - - -

Share-based payment 
transactions

2,573 12,017 - 14,590 - 14,590

Balance at 31 December 2017 787,408 8,333 (224,383) 571,358 - 571,358

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Note
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Operating activities
Receipts from customers 104,169 9,159

Payments to suppliers, contractors and employees (47,082) (6,538)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 7 57,087 2,621

Investing activities
Interest received 398 28

Sales proceeds from pre-production 12,849 -

Payments for property, plant and equipment (35,839) (21,435)

Proceeds from sale of other non-current assets 2,416 1,500

Proceeds/(payment) for available-for-sale assets (3,404) 27

Cash acquired through acquisition - 6,534

Payments for exploration and evaluation assets (11,574) (1,717)

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (35,154) (15,063)

Financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of shares, net of transaction costs 76,333 1,710

Bank charges, withholding tax and interest paid (1,326) (4,529)

Proceeds from borrowings 13,083 22,200

Repayments of borrowings (57,582) (2,302)

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings (702) -

Net cash inflow from financing activities 29,806 17,079

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 51,739 4,637
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 9,327 4,761

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,323) (71)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 6 59,743 9,327

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.	GENERAL INFORMATION
Galaxy Resources Limited (“Company”) is a company incorporated and domiciled in Australia and is a public 
company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (trading under the symbol ‘GXY’). The consolidated financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise the Company and the entities it 
controlled (“Group”). 

The Group is primarily involved in mineral exploration and processing.

The Company’s registered office and its principal place of business is Level 4, 21 Kintail Road, Applecross, WA.

a)	 Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the 
law. Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards (“AASB’s”). Compliance with Australian 
Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Company and the Group comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2018.

b)	 Basis of Preparation of Accounts
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical cost, except for the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting 
policies. Costs are based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

c)	 Functional and presentation currency
All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency, 
unless otherwise stated.

d)	 Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs, requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements are described in note 29.

e)	 Rounding of amounts
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, except as indicated, 
in accordance with the “ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191”, 
issued by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission.
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2.	SEGMENT INFORMATION
a)	 Description of segments

During the period the Group has managed its businesses by geographic location, which resulted in four  
operating and reportable segments which consist of its Corporate, Australian, Argentinian and Canadian 
operations as set out below. This is consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to  
the Group’s Managing Director (Chief Operating Decision Maker – “CODM”) for the purposes of resource 
allocation and performance assessment.

•	 The Australian operation includes the development and operation of the Mt Cattlin spodumene mine  
and exploration for minerals.

•	 	The Argentinian operation includes the development of the Sal de Vida project and exploration for 
minerals.

•	 The Canadian operation includes the development of the James Bay project and exploration for minerals.

For the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group’s Managing Director monitors the 
results and assets attributable to each reportable segment on the following basis:

•	 	Segment results are measured by allocating EBITDA (defined as earnings before tax, depreciation  
and amortisation) to the reportable segments according to the geographic location in which they arose  
or relate to.

•	 Segment assets include property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets.  
The geographical location of the segment assets is based on the physical location of the assets.

b)	 Segment information provided to the CODM
The Group uses segment EBITDA defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation,  
as a key measure of its financial performance. The reconciliation of segment EBITDA to the net profit before tax  
is as follows:

Revenue 
$’000

Segment 
EBITDA 
$’000

Finance 
income 
$’000

Finance 
expenses 

$’000

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
$’000

Profit before 
income tax 

$’000

2017
Corporate - (19,984) 175 (6,309) (80) (26,198)
Australia 125,603 60,340 361 - (27,797) 32,904
Argentina - 31 - (3) (128) (100)
Canada - (415) - (11) (15) (441)

Total 125,603 39,972 536 (6,323) (28,020) 6,165

2016
Corporate - (6,965) 29 (9,057) (63) (16,056)
Australia - (1,546) - (4) 75,695 74,145
Argentina - - - - (25) (25)
Canada - (40) - (4) - (44)

Total - (8,551) 29 (9,065) 75,607 58,020
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2.	SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Total  
Liabilities 

$’000

Total 
 Assets 
$’000

Movement in  
non-current segment 

assets during the year 
$’000

2017
Corporate 5,743 1,593 664

Australia 31,998 352,938 17,544

Argentina 373 117,228 5,930

Canada 5,783 9,832 7,238

Total 43,897 481,591 31,376

2016
Corporate 7,068 1,854 82

Australia 29,432 360,437 288,493

Argentina 56 115,893 1,057

Canada 4,500 2,087 108

Total 41,056 480,271 289,740

c)	� Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities  
and other material items
Inter-segment revenue for the period ended 31 December 2017 is $Nil (31 December 2016: $Nil).  
The reconciliation between reportable segment assets and liabilities and the Group’s consolidated total assets  
and liabilities as at the end of the period is as follows:

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 481,591 480,271

Unallocated:

Cash and cash equivalents 59,743 9,327

Available-for-sale financial assets 20,302 -

Deferred tax asset 53,619 64,686

Consolidated total assets 615,255 554,284

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 43,897 41,056

Unallocated

Interest bearing liabilities - 40,242

Consolidated total liabilities 43,897 81,298
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3.	REVENUE AND EXPENSES
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Operating sales revenue
Sale of Spodumene concentrate (a) 124,851 -

Other revenue 752 -

125,603 -

Cost of Sales
Mining costs (16,096) -

Processing costs (22,807) -

Transport costs (5,546) -

Administration and other site costs (2,979) -

Royalties (7,703) -

Agent fees (6,242) -

Depreciation and amortisation (27,797) -

Net inventory movement (2,908) -

(92,078) -

Other income
Settlement of legal action following sale of discontinued operations 2,519 -

Realised gain on available-for-sale financial assets - 4,455

Other income - 13

2,519 4,468

Other expenses
Administration expenses (6,450) (5,056)

Corporate employment expenses (4,740) (2,295)

Depreciation (223) (88)

Net foreign exchange loss (331) (367)

Rehabilitation expense (317) -

Impairment of exploration and evaluation (5) (38)

Acquisition transaction costs - (4,747)

Share based payment expense (12,017) (234)

Other expenses (9) (278)

(24,092) (13,103)

Finance income
Interest income 536 29

536 29

Finance expenses
Interest and finance expense on borrowings (1,337) (3,311)

Amortisation of capitalised finance costs (4,951) (5,731)

Bank charges (35) (23)

(6,323) (9,065)
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3.	REVENUE AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
(a)	� The transition date from pre-production to commercial production at Mt Cattlin was 1 May 2017. Accordingly, for 

the purposes of preparing the financial report the net outcome is that:

•	 	all sales proceeds from the sale of 40,052 dmt of spodumene (totaling $30.9 million before  
repayment of customer prepayments of $18.5 million) less pre-production cash and non-cash costs (totaling 
$32.6 million) resulted in a net $7.4 million cost, associated with lithium spodumene produced prior to  
1 May 2017 has been added to the carrying value of the property, plant and equipment as pre-production 
expenditure and has therefore not been recognised in the Profit & Loss; and

•	 Lithium spodumene produced and sold after 1 May 2017 totaling 113,467 dmt has been recognised as 
revenue in the Profit & Loss.

4.	EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic profit or loss per share for each year was based on the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and using a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

 
2017

2016 
Post  

consolidation

2016 
Pre-  

consolidation

Basic profit per share (cents) 0.042 41.65 8.33

Diluted profit per share (cents) 0.042 40.45 8.09

Profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of  
the Company ($’000)

166 122,788 122,788

Basic profit per share (cents) from continuing operations 0.042 41.65 8.33

Diluted profit loss per share (cents) from continuing 
operations

0.042 40.45 8.09

Profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the 
Company from continuing operations ($’000)

166 122,788 122,788

Weighted average number of shares 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used  
in calculating basic earnings per share

392,357,873 294,878,020 1,474,390,098

Effect of share options 2,137,090 4,621,314 23,106,568

Effect of share appreciation rights 2,186,594 4,042,648 20,213,239

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used  
in calculating diluted earnings per share

396,681,557 303,541,982 1,517,709,905
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5.	INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Current - 44,698

Secured loan facility - (4,456)

Capitalised finance costs - 40,242

BNP Paribas – Secured Loan

In February 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with BNP Paribas for a new secured debt facility for up to 
US$40 million, with the principal purpose of repaying in full the outstanding balance due to OL Master (Singapore) 
Pte (“OCP”) and for general corporate requirements.

The key terms of this facility were:

d)	 Facility A – US$10 million Term loan, maturing 31 January 2018

e)	 Facility B – US$15 million Bridge loan, repayable on or before 31 December 2017

f)	� Facility C – US$15 million Revolving loan, maturing 31 January 2018 - yearly extensions of  
12 months subject to renewal conditions

After the Company completed the equity capital fundraising of $61 million only tranches A and C of the BNP Paribas 
facility were executed, resulting in a total US$25 million facility. US$10 million was drawn down and fully repaid 
during the year. The secured loan facility is recognised and measured at amortised cost. 

OCP – Secured Loan

The OCP facility was repaid in full in February 2017.

Summary of movement in interest bearing liabilities: 

Secured loan 
facility 
$’000

Capitalised 
finance costs 

$’000
Total 

$’000
Balance 31 December 2015 31,000 (2,707) 28,293

Initial recognition 16,000 (7,480) 8,520

Interest and financing expense 3,264 5,731 8,995

Interest repayments (3,369) - (3,369)

Accrued interest 105 - 105

Repayment (2,302) - (2,302)

Balance 31 December 2016 44,698 (4,456) 40,242
Initial recognition 13,082 (495) 12,587

Interest and financing expense 1,337 4,951 6,288

Interest repayments (1,091) - (1,091)

Accrued interest (159) - (159)

Repayment (57,583) - (57,583)

Foreign exchange (284) - (284)

Balance 31 December 2017 - - -
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6.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Current
Cash at bank and on hand 59,743 9,327

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed  
in note 15.

7.	�RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX  
TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Profit for the year 166 122,706
Adjustments for:

Funds received on settlement with Tianqi (2,519) -

Depreciation and amortisation 28,020 88

Net finance costs 6,852 9,389

Impairment reversal 5 (75,653)

Share-based payments 12,016 234

Realised gain on available-for-sale assets - (4,455)

Transaction costs on GMM Acquisition - 4,747

Net inventory movement 2,908 -

Deferred tax on available for sale assets (5,070) -

Deferred income to investing activities 18,374 -

Adjustment to rehabilitation provision (1,979)

58,617 (65,649)
Change in trade and other receivables (14,994) 2,967

Change in payables 278 6,938

Change in inventories (19) 220

Change in prepayments (591) (29)

Change in provisions and employee benefits 2,563 154

Change in deferred tax assets 11,067 (64,686)

(1,696) (54,437)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 57,087 2,621

44 GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



8.	NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Note
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 
GMM acquisition consideration - 246,458

Warrants issued to lenders in conjunction  
with financing arrangements

- 7,160

Issuance of shares and warrants to contractors in conjunction  
with the recommissioning of Mt Cattlin and exploration and 
evaluation activities

- 1,589

Issuance of shares to advisors of GMM for settlement  
of transaction advice services

23(a) 2,573 1,710

9.	EQUITY
a)	 Contributed equity

(i) Share capital

2017 
Shares

2016 
Shares

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Fully paid ordinary shares 405,022,009 1,832,545,826 787,408 694,332

(ii) Movement in ordinary share capital

Number of shares 
(Post-consolidation)

Number of shares 
(Pre-consolidation) $’000

Balance 1 January 2016 252,886,637 1,264,433,185 459,218

Employee exercise of SARS 2,270,652 11,353,259 288

Employee exercise of options 7,400,000 37,000,000 2,354

Acquisition of GMM 103,091,251 515,456,257 230,902

Payments to contractors / suppliers 860,625 4,303,125 1,589

Transaction costs - - (19)

Balance at 31 December 2016 366,509,165 1,832,545,826 694,332
Placement 22,600,000 113,000,000 61,020

Exercise of warrants 10,000,000 30,000,000 25,377

Exercise of options 4,881,982 4,881,982 6,715

Shares issued in lieu of services – non-cash 1,029,306 5,146,528 2,573

Transaction costs - - (2,611)

Share consolidation 5 for 1 – approved at 
AGM on 18 May 2017

1,556(i) (1,580,552,327) -

Balance at 31 December 2017 405,022,009 405,022,009 787,408

(i)	 Rounding on consolidation
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9.	EQUITY (CONTINUED)

(iii) Unlisted Options on issue

At 31 December 2017, the Company had the following unlisted options on issue:

Grant date
Options 

outstanding Vesting conditions
Non-vesting 
conditions Contractual life of option

Exercise 
price

08/08/2016 2,475,000 Fully vested None Expire 21 September 2018 $0.365

18/05/2017 4,050,000
Fully vested 
(Tranche A & B)

None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

18/05/2017 5,225,000 Tranche C – F None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

30/05/2017 2,695,000
Fully vested 
(Tranche A & B)

None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

30/05/2017 3,630,000 Tranche A - F None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

31/10/2017 450,000
Fully vested 
(Tranche A & B)

None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

31/10/2017 550,000 Tranche C - F None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

19/12/2017 400,000 Tranche C - F None Expire 14 June 2020 $2.780

Total 19,475,000

Tranche % Vesting Condition

A 25
Upon the Company achieving a closing Share price on the ASX of at least $3.15  
(on a post Consolidation basis) for 30 consecutive trading days

B 20
Upon the Company’s Mt Cattlin project achieving 160,000 metric tonnes per annum 
equivalent production of lithium concentrate for 3 consecutive months

C 20
Upon the Company achieving earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) of at least $50 million over a trailing 12 month period commencing 1 June 2017

D 15
Upon the Directors of the Company making a decision to develop either of the Company’s  
Sal de Vida Project or James Bay Project

E 10 14 June 2018 being 12 months continuous employment or service from date Option is granted

F 10 14 June 2019 being 24 months continuous employment or service from date Option is granted
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9.	EQUITY (CONTINUED)

(iv) Share Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) on issue

At 31 December 2017, the Company had the following SAR’s on issue:

Grant date
SARs 

outstanding Vesting conditions Expiry Date
19/06/2016 2,000,000 Various 5-7 years

10/11/2016 100,000 Various 1-2 years

9/11/2016 200,000 Fully vested 16/11/2022

9/11/2016 200,000 Continuous employment at 16 November 2018 16/11/2023

11/04/2017 100,000 Continuous employment at 2 April 2018 2/04/2023

11/04/2017 100,000 Continuous employment at 2 April 2019 2/04/2024

12/04/2017 100,000 Fully vested 4/04/2023

12/04/2017 100,000 Continuous employment at 4 April 2019 4/04/2024

14/06/2017 200,000 14 September 2017 14/09/2022

16/8//2017 100,000 18 August 2017 23/8/2022

16/8/2017 100,000 10 April 2019 10/4/2024

Total 3,300,000

b)	 Reserves
The following table shows the movements in reserves during the current and prior year. A description of the nature 
and purpose of each reserve is provided below the table.

Equity-
settled 

payments 
reserve 

$’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

$’000

Fair value 
reserve 

$’000

Capital 
reserve 

$’000

Total 
reserves 

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2016 8,485 (16,578) 1.460 - (6,633)
Foreign currency translation differences - (3,834) - - (3,834)
Change in fair value of available for 
sale financial assets

- - (1,460) - (1,460)

Total comprehensive loss - (3,834) (1,460) - (5,294)
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Acquisition of GMM 10,259 - - 1,053 11,312
Share-based payment transactions 7,417 - - - 7,417
Transfer of reserve upon exercise of 
share options

(932) - - - (932)

Transfer of reserve upon forfeit of 
options

(5,660) - - - (5,660)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - 3,959 3,959

Balance at 31 December 2016 19,569 (20,412) - 5,012 4,169
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9.	EQUITY (CONTINUED)
Equity-
settled 

payments 
reserve 

$’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

$’000

Fair value 
reserve 

$’000

Capital 
reserve 

$’000

Total 
reserves 

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2017 19,569 (20,412) - 5,012 4,169
Foreign currency translation differences - (5,110) - - (5,110)
Change in fair value of available for 
sale financial assets

- - 16,899 - 16,899

Income tax relating to revaluation of 
available-for-sale financial assets

- - (5,070) - (5,070)

Total comprehensive income - (5,110) 11,829 - 6,719
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Share-based payment transactions 12,016 - - - 12,016
Transfer of reserve upon exercise  
of share options

(6,007) - - - (6,007)

Transfer of reserve upon exercise  
of share warrants

(7,160) - - - (7,160)

Transfer of reserve upon exercise  
of share SARS

(438) - - - (438)

Transfer of reserve upon forfeit  
of options

(966) - - - (966)

Balance at 31 December 2017 17,014 (25,522) 11,829 5,012 8,333

Nature and purpose of reserves

Equity-settled payment reserve

The equity-settled payments reserve comprises the portion of the grant date fair value of unexercised share 
options granted to employees and financiers of the Company that has been recognised in accordance with the 
accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 30(l). 

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
consolidated financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in note 30(k).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until 
the investments are derecognised or impaired.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises transactions with owners to acquire non-controlling interests.
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Current
Trade receivables 15,140 178

Other receivables (a) 1,704 1,690

Prepayments 489 223

Security bonds 415 72

17,748 2,163

(a)	 Other receivables comprise mainly GST/VAT receivable.

11. INVENTORIES 
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Current
Consumables 2,109 844

Spodumene ore 9,368 10,613

11,477 11,457

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Current
Trade payables 26,500 7,159

Transaction costs payable 3,513 4,747

Payroll tax and other statutory payables 284 145

Accrued interest payable - 217

Other payables 207 1,814

30,504 14,082

Non-Current
Trade payables 2,230 -

2,230 -

Trade and other payables mainly represent amounts owing for general expenses and accrued interest on loans.  
The Company also accrued for operating expenses on Mt Cattlin and transaction costs on the GMM acquisition. 
Some of the GMM acquisition costs were settled in 2017 and the Company expects the remaining costs to be settled 
within one year. Non-current payables relate to a deferred payable to a contractor for services rendered in relation to 
the Mt Cattlin mine.
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13. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 
Equity securities held at fair value 20,302 -

As at 31 December 2017 the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets included 340,376,062 shares and 
5,000,000 unlisted options in Lepidico Limited which were revalued on the basis of a significant increase in their 
market fair value.

14. DEFERRED INCOME 
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 
Spodumene concentrate prepayments - 18,374

Deferred income represents payments collected but not earned at the end of the reporting period. These payments 
are recognised as revenue when the goods are delivered. The balance relates to a total of US$14.5 million in 
prepayments, a portion of which was acquired through the GMM acquisition. This prepayment was settled in  
May 2017.

15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 	Credit risk

•	 	Liquidity risk

•	 	Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and quantitative disclosures. 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices, will affect the Group income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. Management is responsible for establishing procedures which provide assurance that major business risks 
are identified, consistently assessed and appropriately mitigated. The Group has developed a framework for a risk 
management policy and internal compliance and control system which covers organisation, financial and operational 
aspects of the Group’s activities. 

The Group’s Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the 
risks faced by the Group.
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15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a)	Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet  
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and receivable 
financial assets. Other receivables predominantly relate to security deposits and GST/VAT refunds.  
Management do not consider this receivable balance is subject to any material credit risk.

The Group limit their exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties 
and financial institutions that have credit ratings of between A2 and A1+ from Standard & Poor’s and P-1 from 
Moody’s, with more weighting given to investments in the higher credit ratings. Given these credit ratings, 
management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed with various financial institutions consistent with sound credit 
ratings, and management consider the Group’s exposure to credit risk is low. 

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset as follows:

Note
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 
Trade and other receivables 10 17,259 1,940

Cash and cash equivalents 6 59,743 9,327

77,002 11,267

(b)	Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The following are the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated  
interest payments:

31 December 2017

Carrying 
amount 

$’000

Undiscounted 
contractual 

cash outflows 
$’000

Within  
1 year or  

on demand 
$’000

More than  
1 year but 

less than  
2 years 

$’000

More than  
2 years but 

less than  
5 years  

$’000

More than  
5 years 

$’000
Trade and other 
payables

32,734 32,734 30,504 2,230 - -

Secured loan 
facility

- - - - - -

Total 32,734 32,734 30,504 2,230 - -

The Company has an undrawn debt facility with BNP of US$1,666,666 ($2,136,751) available at year end.
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15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
31 December 2016

Carrying 
amount 

$’000

Undiscounted 
contractual 

cash outflows 
$’000

Within  
1 year or  

on demand 
$’000

More than  
1 year but 

less than  
2 years 

$’000

More than  
2 years but 

less than  
5 years  

$’000

More than  
5 years 

$’000
Trade and other 
payables

14,082 14,082 14,082 - - -

Secured bank 
loans

40,242 45,575 45,575 - - -

Total 54,324 59,657 59,657 - - -

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier,  
or at significantly different amounts.

(c)	 Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on cash and cash equivalents and on borrowings that are denominated 
in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Company or its subsidiaries. The currencies in 
which these transactions primarily are denominated in are USD.

At any point in time the Group may monitor and manage its estimated foreign currency exposure in respect 
of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and interest bearing liabilities. The Group ensures that the net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currency at spot rates where necessary to 
address short-term imbalances. 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at each balance date was as follows. For presentation purposes, 
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Australian dollars translated using the spot rate at each balance  
sheet date.

2017 2016

Group
USD 

$’000
AUD 

$’000
USD 

$’000
AUD 

$’000
Cash and cash equivalents 39,754 50,967 165 229

Accounts receivable 11,431 14,655 - -

Balance sheet exposure 51,185 65,622 165 229

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate Reporting date spot rate

2017 2016 2017 2016
1 AUD:USD 0.767 0.744 0.780 0.720
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15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the Australian dollar against the following currencies would have (increased)/decreased 
equity and profit/loss for the year by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables,  
in particular interest rates, remain constant.

2017 2016

Effect in Australian dollars Equity
Profit for the 

period Equity
Profit for the 

period
USD $’000 - 3,900 - 21

A 10% weakening of the Australian dollar against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(d)	Interest rate risk
Throughout the year, the Group may monitor and manage its interest rate exposure on future borrowings.  
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from cash at bank and interest bearing liabilities, which are held at 
variable rates that expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group’s interest-bearing cash at bank and liabilities and the respective interest rates as at each balance sheet 
date are set as below:

Group
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 
Cash and cash equivalents $59,743 $9,327

- Interest rate 0% to 1.75% 0% to 0.70%

Interest bearing liabilities - $44,698

- Interest rate - 8% to 10%

Sensitivity analysis

A general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates of variable rate instruments prevailing at each 
balance sheet dates, with all other variables held constant, would increase/(decrease) the Group’s loss after tax 
and equity by the amounts shown below:

Year Ended 
31 December 

2017 
$’000

Year Ended 
31 December 

2016 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents
Increase of 100 basis points (60) (93)

Decrease of 100 basis points 60 93

The Group’s fixed rate borrowings and receivables are carried at amortised cost. They are therefore not subject 
to interest rate risk as defined in AASB 7, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate 
because of a change in market interest rates.
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15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(e)	 Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments are carried at fair value. The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, 
by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

•	 	Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•	 	Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

•	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data. 

2017 2016

Group
Level 1 
$’000

Level 2 
$’000

Level 3 
$’000

Level 1 
$’000

Level 2 
$’000

Level 3 
$’000

Available-for-sale financial assets 20,302 - - - - -

(f)	 Price Risk
The group’s exposure to equity securities arises from investments held by the group and classified in the balance 
sheet as available-for-sale. The group’s equity investments are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange 
with the exception of unlisted options.

Sensitivity Analysis

A general increase/decrease in the securities of 10% at balance sheet dates, with all other variables held 
constant, would increase/(decrease) the Group’s loss after tax and equity by the amounts shown below:

2017 2016

Equity 
$’000

Profit for the 
period 
$’000

Equity 
$’000

Profit for the 
period 
$’000

Increase of 10% 2,030 - - -

Decrease of 10% - (2,030) - -

(g)	Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair value
All of the other financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts that are not materially different from their  
fair values.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land 
$’000

Plant & 
Equipment 

$’000

Mine 
development 
expenditure 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2016 1,412 127,552 17,708 146,671
Additions - 28,744 - 28,744
Disposals - (63,364) (8,854) (72,218)
Foreign exchange movement - (66) - (66)
GMM Acquisition - 35,564 222,523 258,087

Balance at 31 December 2016 1,412 128,430 231,377 361,219
Additions - 10,058 9,624 19,682
Disposals - (25) - (25)
Foreign exchange movement - (199) - (199)

Balance at 31 December 2017 1,412 138,264 241,001 380,677

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2016 - 127,279 17,708 144,986
Depreciation - 88 - 88
Impairment reversal - (64,070) (11,621) (75,691)
Disposals - (45,910) (5,689) (51,599)
Foreign exchange movement - (34) - (34)

Balance at 31 December 2016 - 17,353 398 17,751
Depreciation - 14,162 27,184 41,346
Disposals - (15) - (15)
Foreign exchange movement - (49) - (49)

Balance at 31 December 2017 - 31,451 27,582 59,033

Net book value
At 31 December 2016 1,412 111,077 230,979 343,468
At 31 December 2017 1,412 106,813 213,420 321,644

55GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



17. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Australia-

Other 
$’000

Australia- 
Mt Cattlin 

$’000

Argentina- 
Sal de Vida 

$’000

Canada- 
James Bay 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Cost:
Balance at 1 January 2016 - 3,669 118,444 1,892 124,005
Additions 38 1,713 1,050 108 2,909
Impairment (38) - - - (38)
Foreign exchange movement - - (3,782) 89 (3,693)

Balance at 31 December 2016 - 5,382 115,712 2,089 123,183
Additions 53 380 4,441 6,820 11,694
Acquisitions - 50 601 - 651
Impairment (5) - - - (5)
Foreign exchange movement - - (4,851) 50 (4,801)

Balance at 31 December 2017 48 5,812 115,903 8,959 130,722

18. PROVISIONS
2017 

$’000 
2016 

$’000 

Total provisions
Current 503 177

Non-current 10,660 8,423

Total 11,163 8,600

Movement in provisions
Rehabilitation 

$’000

Employee 
Benefits 

$’000

Onerous 
Contracts 

$’000
Total 

$’000
Balance at 1 January 2016 7,174 15 37 7,226
Movement in provision 1,026 191 (37) 1,180
FX movement 194 - - 194

Balance at 31 December 2016 8,394 206 - 8,600
Movement in provision 2,296 326 - 2,622
FX movement (59) - - (59)

Balance 31 December 2017 10,631 532 - 11,163

Non-current provisions mainly relate to the Group’s rehabilitation obligations in Australia and Canada.

Australia

A provision of $5,999,777 (2016: $4,020,301) is recognised in respect of the rehabilitation obligations  
for Mt Cattlin.

The Mt Cattlin plant was placed on care and maintenance in March 2013. During the financial year the Mt Cattlin 
plant has been recommissioned with production re-commencing. Accordingly, the rehabilitation provision has been 
updated to reflect the current state of the project.

Canada

A provision of $4,631,873 (2016: $4,374,138) is recognised in respect of the restoration of the tailings site at a 
former Lithium 1 mining site in Canada. The timing and amount of the rehabilitation is subject to negotiations with 
government authorities in Quebec.
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19. INCOME TAX
A reconciliation of income tax benefit applicable to accounting profit/(loss) before income tax at the statutory income 
tax rate to income tax expense at the Group’s effective income tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016 is as follows:

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Accounting profit before income tax 6,165 58,020

At the statutory income tax rate of 30% (2016:30%) (i) (1,849) (17,406)
Deductible balancing adjustment/(non-deductible expenses) (3,930) 3,222

Tax effect on temporary differences brought to account (507) 18,382

Tax losses brought to account as a deferred tax asset - 63,081

Utilisation of deferred tax asset previously recognised 434 -

Non-assessable income 356 -

Under provision in prior year (503) (2,593)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (5,999) 64,686

(i)	� The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company and the Australian subsidiary was 30% during 2017  
and 2016. No provision for Australian taxation was made during the Relevant Period for the Company  
and the Australian subsidiaries. 

Tax Consolidation

The Company and its 100% owned controlled Australian entities have formed a tax consolidated group. Members 
of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense 
to the Australian wholly owned controlled entities on a pro-rate basis. The agreement provides for the allocation of 
income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At balance 
date, the possibility of default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group is Galaxy Resources Limited.

Tax Effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement 
provides for the allocation of current taxes to members of the tax consolidated group. Deferred taxes are allocated to 
members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with a group allocation approach which is consistent with the 
principles of AASB 112 Income Taxes. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an 
increase/decrease in the controlled entities intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head company, 
Galaxy Resources Limited. 
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19. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

Tax losses (73,226) (72,436) - - (73,226) (72,436)

Inventories (328) (961) - - (328) (961)

Property, plant and equipment - - 16,414 8,790 16,414 8,790

Exploration, evaluation and 
development expenditure

- - 1,038 1,615 1,038 1,614

Provisions (1,359) (1,133) - - (1,359) (1,132)

Other (251) (713) - - (251) (713)

Borrowing costs - (66) - - - (66)

Unrealised foreign exchange 
losses (gains)

(977) - - 218 (977) 218

Investments - - 5,070 - 5,070 -

Net tax (assets)/liabilities (76,141) (75,309) 22,522 10,622 (53,619) (64,686)

Deferred tax assets of $53.6 million (2016: $64.7 million) have been recognised in relation to unused tax losses,  
due to taxable income being forecast in the future from the Mt Cattlin operations. 

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a)	 Capital commitments

Mining tenements

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Group will be required to perform minimum 
exploration work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements. This expenditure will only be incurred should the 
Group retain its existing level of interest in its various exploration areas and provided access to mining tenements 
is not restricted. These obligations will be fulfilled in the normal course of operations, which may include 
exploration and evaluation activities. Prior year comparatives related to exploration work to meet minimum 
expenditure requirements on Western Australian tenements only.

The estimated exploration expenditure commitment for the ensuing years, but not recognised as a liability in the 
statement of financial position is as follows:

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Within one year 11,452 300

More than one year but less than five years 24,148 294

35,600 594
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20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
b)	 Non-cancellable operating leases

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Within one year 347 171

More than one year but less than five years 774 34

1,121 205

The Group is the lessee in respect of some properties and items of plant and machinery and office equipment held 
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 3 years, with an option to renew the lease 
when all terms are terminated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

c)	 Contingent assets and liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 
Disputed items with Sichuan Tianqi Lithium Industries, refer 2016 Annual report for details) or at the date of  
this report. 

The Group occasionally receives claims arising from its activities in the normal course of business. It is expected 
that any liabilities arising from such claims would not have a material effect on the Group’s operating results or 
financial performance.

21. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
Other than the matter set out below, in the interval between the end of the year and the date of this report there has 
not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the 
Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group, in future financial years:

1)	� On 2 January 2018, Ms Florencia Heredia was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director  
of the Company; and

2)	� On 3 January 2018, a total of 2,242,171 fully paid ordinary shares were issued in relation to the  
exercise of 2,475,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.365 per share. The options were converted  
utilising the cashless exercise facility whereby the holder is allocated shares equivalent to the net value  
of the options calculated as the market value of the exercisable shares on the date of exercise less their 
exercisable consideration.
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Key management personnel remuneration

2017 
$ 

2016 
$

Salaries and other short-term emoluments 1,995,962 1,367,763

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 62,650 16,451

Share-based payments 8,175,728 22,933

10,234,340 1,407,147

An amount of $50,000 was paid to Bacchus Capital Advisers Ltd for financial services rendered. Bacchus Capital 
Advisers are a related party of Peter Bacchus.

An amount of $10,171 (CA$10,000) was paid to New Haven Learning Centre for sponsorship of an event.  
New Haven Learning Centre are a related party of John Turner.

An amount of $154,331 was paid to Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP for legal services. Fasken Martineau DuMoulin 
LLP are a related party of John Turner.

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 24 to 30.

23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
(a)	Shares 

i.	 Financier shares

No shares were issued to Financiers during the year (2016: 720,000 being 3,600,000 pre-consolidation)

ii.	 Shares in lieu of payment

1,029,306 (5,146,528 pre-consolidation) shares were issued to consultants in lieu of cash settlement for 
outstanding invoices (2016: 140,625 being 703,125 pre-consolidation). The market value of these shares at the 
date of grant was $2,573,264 (2016: $275,000).

(b)	Options and warrants
i.	 Director options

9,500,000 unlisted options were issued to Directors during the year pursuant to shareholder approval at the 
AGM held on 18 May 2017 (2016: 4,950,000, 24,750,000 pre-consolidation), with the vesting conditions:

Tranche % Vesting Condition

A 25
Upon the Company achieving a closing Share price on the ASX of at least $3.15 (on a post 
Consolidation basis) for 30 consecutive trading days

B 20
Upon the Company’s Mt Cattlin project achieving 160,000 metric tonnes per annum 
equivalent production of lithium concentrate for 3 consecutive months

C 20
Upon the Company achieving earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) of at least $50 million over a trailing 12 month period commencing 1 June 2017

D 15
Upon the Directors of the Company making a decision to develop either of the Company’s  
Sal de Vida Project or James Bay Project

E 10 12 months continuous employment or service from date the option is granted

F 10 24 months continuous employment or service from date the option is granted
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23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
	 Number	 9,500,000

	 Dividend yield (%)	 0%

	 Expected volatility (%)	 75%

	 Risk free interest rate (%)	 1.76%

	 Expected life of options (years)	 3.08 years

	 Option exercise price ($)	 $2.780

	 Share price at grant date ($)	 $2.175

The unlisted options granted to Directors have been valued at $8,490,625 and will be expensed to the profit 
or loss over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to exercise the options. The valuation 
was calculated using a Monte Carlo model for Tranche A and a Black Scholes model for Tranches B-F with the 
assumptions used for valuing the options issued to Directors above.

ii.	  Employee Options

8,000,000 unlisted options were issued to employees during the year pursuant to the terms of the  
Employee Option Plan approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 18 May 2017. (2016: Nil)

	 Tranche 1 (Number)	 6,600,000

	 Dividend yield (%)	 0%

	 Expected volatility (%)	 75%

	 Risk free interest rate (%)	 1.67%

	 Expected life of options (years)	 3.04 years

	 Option exercise price ($)	 $2.780

	 Share price at grant date ($)	 $2.350

The vesting conditions are the same as the vesting conditions of unlisted options issued to Directors set out above.

The unlisted options granted to employees have been valued at $6,684,150 and will be expensed to the profit 
or loss over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to exercise the options. The valuation 
was calculated using a Monte Carlo model for Tranche A and a Black Scholes model for Tranches B-F with the 
assumptions used for valuing the options issued above.

	 Tranche 2 (Number)	 1,000,000

	 Dividend yield (%)	 0%

	 Expected volatility (%)	 70%

	 Risk free interest rate (%)	 1.96%

	 Expected life of options (years)	 2.62 years

	 Option exercise price ($)	 $2.780

	 Share price at grant date ($)	 $3.450

The vesting conditions are the same as the vesting conditions of unlisted options issued to Directors set out above.

The unlisted options granted to employees have been valued at $1,736,000 and will be expensed to the profit 
or loss over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to exercise the options. The valuation 
was calculated using a Monte Carlo model for Tranche A and a Black Scholes model for Tranches B-F with the 
assumptions used for valuing the options issued above.
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23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
	 Tranche 3 (Number)	 400,000

	 Dividend yield (%)	 0%

	 Expected volatility (%)	 70%

	 Risk free interest rate (%)	 2.09%

	 Expected life of options (years)	 2.49 years

	 Option exercise price ($)	 $2.780

	 Share price at grant date ($)	 $3.950

The vesting conditions are the same as vesting conditions C - F of the unlisted options issued to Directors set  
out above.

The unlisted options granted to employees have been valued at $846,800 and will be expensed to the profit or 
loss over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to exercise the options. The valuation was 
calculated a Black Scholes model.

iii.	 Consultant options

No Consultant options were issued during the year (2016: 5,050,000 being 25,250,000 pre-consolidation)

iv.	 Lender warrants

No Lender Warrants were issued during the year (2016: 10,000,000 being 50,000,000 pre-consolidation)

v.	 Summary of options and warrants granted

2017 2016

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Number of 
options 

‘000

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Number of 
options 

‘000
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 0.28 75,800 0.22 43,850

Exercised during the year 0.61 (32,975) 0.05 (37,000)

Forfeited during the year 1.16 (210) 1.13 (5,800)

Consolidated - (40,640) - -

Granted during the year 2.78 17,500 0.26 74,750

Outstanding at the end of the year 2.47 19,475 0.28 75,800

Exercisable at the end of the year 2.16 9,670 0.26 74,750

vi.	 Summary of options and warrants outstanding at end of year

Grant date Options outstanding Vesting conditions
08/08/2016 2,475,000 Fully vested

18/05/2017 4,050,000 Fully vested (Tranche A & B)

18/05/2017 5,225,000 Tranche C - F

30/05/2017 2,695,000 Fully vested (Tranche A & B)

30/05/2017 3,630,000 Tranche C-F

31/10/2017 450,000 Fully vested (Tranche A & B)

31/10/2017 550,000 Tranche C - F

19/12/2017 400,000 Tranche C - F

Total 19,475,000
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23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Tranche % Vesting Condition

A 25
Upon the Company achieving a closing Share price on the ASX of at least $3.15 (on a post 
Consolidation basis) for 30 consecutive trading days

B 20
Upon the Company’s Mt Cattlin project achieving 160,000 metric tonnes per annum 
equivalent production of lithium concentrate for 3 consecutive months

C 20
Upon the Company achieving earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) of at least $50 million over a trailing 12 month period commencing 1 June 2017

D 15
Upon the Directors of the Company making a decision to develop either of the Company’s  
Sal de Vida Project or James Bay Project

E 10 12 months continuous employment or service from date the option is granted

F 10 24 months continuous employment or service from date the option is granted

vii.	Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value 
of the share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of these share options granted is measured using 
generally accepted valuation techniques including Black Scholes and Monte-Carlo (Tranche A) simulations.  
The Company has applied an appropriate probability weighting to factor the likelihood of the satisfaction of 
vesting conditions.

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining 
life of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available 
information. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate. 

Probability applied to the non-vesting conditions is based on management’s judgement which was formed in 
consideration of all the facts and circumstances that were available to management at the grant date of each 
class of share options. Such facts and circumstances included the overall economic conditions, lithium market 
condition, the Company’s business plan and management’s industry experience. Changes in the subjective 
probability ratios applied could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Certain share options were granted under service and non-market performance conditions. These conditions have 
not been taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement. There were no market conditions associated 
with the share option grants, except for class Tranche A which has been taken into account in measuring the grant 
date fair value.
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23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Share appreciation rights (“SARS”) 

i.	 Employee SARS

4,400,000 SARS (1,200,000 post consolidation) were issued to employees during the year pursuant to the  
terms of the Galaxy Resources Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 
29 May 2015 (2016: 200,000 being 1,000,000 pre-consolidation).

The value of the SARS issued was calculated using Black Scholes models with the following assumptions:

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3 Tranche 4 Tranche 5 
Number 1,000,000 1,000,000 2,000,000 200,000 200,000

Number (post consolidation) 200,000 200,000 400,000 200,000 200,000

Dividend yield (%) - - - -

Expected volatility (%) 75% 75% 70%

Risk free interest rate (%) 2.06% 2.04% 2.17% 1.97% 2.20%

Expected life of options (years) 5.98-6.98 6.02-7.02 5.25 5.02-6.65

Option exercise price –  
post consolidation ($)

$2.475 $1.765 $2.010 $2.220

Share price at grant date ($) $2.200 $2.100 $1.500 $1.755 $1.925

Value per tranche ($) $294,900 $274,700 $394,400 $212,800 $229,900

Value of SARS expensed  
during the period

$161,089 $184,420 $305,809 $212,800 $144,917

ii.	 Summary of SARS granted

2017 2016

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Number of 
SARS 
‘000

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Number of 
SARS 
‘000

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 0.04 22,825 0.03 34,100

Granted during the year 2.78 4,400 0.32 1,000

Exercised during the year 0.04 (2,465) 0.03 (12,200)

Consolidated during the year - (21,460) - -

Expired during the year - - 0.03 (75)

Outstanding at the end of the year 0.87 3,300 0.04 22,825
Exercisable at the end of the year 0.56 2,600 0.02 13,500
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23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
(d) Recognised share based payment expense in profit or loss

Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the year:

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Recognised as employment costs in the profit or loss:

Expense arising from directors, or their nominees options and SARS 5,690,474 -

Expense arising from employee shares and SARS 6,325,880 234,000

12,016,354 234,000
Recognised as finance costs in the profit or loss:

Expense arising from financier shares and warrants - 5,731,000

- 5,731,000

Total share based payments expense 12,016,354 5,965,000

24. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent:

Auditors of the Group

Audit 
services 

2017 
$

Taxation 
& other 
services 

2017 
$

Total 
2017 

$

Audit 
 services 

2016 
$

Taxation 
& other 
services 

2016 
$

Total 
2016 

$
PwC Australia 281,322 247,656 529,978 230,000 75,790 305,790
PwC Netherlands - 5,390 5,390 - 5,425 5,425
PwC Hong Kong 11,373 165,094 176,467 - 89,650 89,650
PwC Canada - 41,315 41,315 - 20,809 20,809
PwC USA - 17,003 17,003 - 16,502 16,502
PwC Argentina - - - - - -

Total paid to PwC for the 
provision of services 292,695 476,458 769,153 230,000 208,175 438,176
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25. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE
Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited (“GLAL”), Galaxy 
Lithium Pty Ltd (“GLPL”) and General Mining Corporation Limited (“GMM”) from the Corporations Act 2001 
requirements for the preparation, audit and lodgment of a financial report. As a condition of the Class Order, the 
Company and GLAL (“Closed Group”) entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee on 19 September 2011. A variation 
deed was entered into on 20 December 2016 between the Company, GLPL, GLAL and GMM. The effect of this deed 
is that the Company has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of these controlled entities 
or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the 
guarantee. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee in the event that the Company is wound up or if 
it does not meet its obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee.

A consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial 
position, comprising the Company and the controlled entities which are party to the Deed, after eliminating all 
transactions between the parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out  
as follows:

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Revenue 125,603 -

Finance income 459 29

Other income 2,519 13

Expenses

Operating costs (92,078) (278)

Administration costs (6,264) (5,009)

Employment costs (16,757) (2,529)

Depreciation (80) (63)

Finance costs (6,229) (9,058)

Foreign exchange loss (2,191) (323)

Reversal of Impairment on property, plant and equipment - 75,691

Impairment of exploration and evaluation (5) (38)

Realised gain on available-for-sale assets - 4,455

Transaction costs on GMM acquisition - (3,931)

Profit before taxation 4,977 58,959
Income tax (expense)/benefit (5,999) 64,686

(Loss)/Profit for the year (1,022) 123,645
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 11,829 (1,460)

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,807 122,185
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25. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)
Consolidated statement of financial position

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 58,711 9,181

Other receivables and prepayments 17,240 2,125

Inventories 11,477 11,457

Total Current Assets 87,428 22,763

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 319,954 340,625

Exploration and evaluation assets 5,859 5,382

Available-for-sale financial assets 20,302 -

Other receivables and prepayments 35,352 34,141

Investments in subsidiaries 86,105 86,105

Deferred tax asset 53,619 64,686

Total Non-Current Assets 521,191 530,939

Total Assets 608,619 553,702

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 28,949 14,193

Deferred income - 18,374

Provisions 481 177

Interest bearing liabilities - 40,242

Total Current Liabilities 29,430 72,986

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 2,230 -

Provisions 6,028 4,050

Total Non-Current Liabilities 8,258 4,050

Total Liabilities 37,688 77,036

Net Assets 570,931 476,666

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Contributed equity 787,408 694,332

Reserves 33,855 24,581

Accumulated losses (250,332) (242,247)

Total Equity 570,931 476,666
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26. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE
As at, and throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the parent company of the Group was  
Galaxy Resources Limited.

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Result of the parent entity
Profit for the year 89,633 53,065

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 11,829 (1,460)

Total comprehensive income for the year 101,462 51,605

Financial Position of parent entity at year end
Current Assets 3,047 6,432

Total Assets 576,611 421,428

Current Liabilities 5,661 45,413

Total Liabilities 5,689 45,413

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:
Contributed Equity 787,408 694,332

Reserves 33,855 24,581

Accumulated losses (250,341) (342,929)

Total Equity 570,922 375,985

Parent entity guarantees in respect of the debts of its subsidiaries

The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in 
respect of its Australian subsidiaries. Refer to note 25 for further details. 

27. BUSINESS COMBINATION
On 30 May 2016 the Company announced an on-market takeover bid of GMM which resulted in the Company 
obtaining control of GMM on 28 July 2016. GMM shareholders received 1.65 new Company shares for every  
1 GMM share held, totaling $231.7 million consideration. In addition, the Company was obliged to replace GMM 
options, which were valued at $10.2 million in value using a Black/Scholes valuation. The acquired business 
contributed a net loss before tax of $369,535 for the period 28 July to 31 December 2016. Had GMM been 
acquired on 1 January 2016, the Company would have recognised an additional loss before tax of $2,520,085. 

The acquisition accounting balances relating to the takeover of GMM were finalised and no adjustments were made 
to the provisional numbers disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.

There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 December 2017.

 

68 GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



28. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all of the subsidiaries of the Company:

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment 
and operation

Interest as at 31 December

Name of company
Type of  

legal entity 2017 2016 Principal activity
Galaxy Lithium  
Australia Limited

Australia
Limited 

company
100% 100%

Mining of Mt Cattlin 
spodumene

Galaxy Lithium 
Proprietary Limited

Australia
Limited 

company
100% 100% Dormant

General Mining 
Corporation Limited

Australia
Limited 

company
100% 100%

Mining of Mt Cattlin 
spodumene

Golden Cross  
Company Limited 
Liability Company

Mongolia
Limited 

company
100% 100% Dormant

Galaxy Resources 
International Limited

Hong Kong
Limited 

company
100% 100%

Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Resources Share 
Plan Proprietary Limited

Australia
Limited 

company
100% 100% Dormant

Galaxy Lithium 
(Canada) Inc. 

Canada 
(Quebec)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Exploration of  
James Bay 
spodumene deposits

Galaxy Lithium  
Holdings BV 

The 
Netherlands

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Lithium (US) Inc. 
United States 
(Delaware)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Lithium One 
(Quebec) Inc. 

Canada 
(Quebec)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Lithium One Inc. 
Canada 
(Quebec)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Lithium  
(Ontario) Inc. 

Canada 
(Ontario)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Exploration of  
James Bay 
spodumene deposits

Galaxy Lithium  
(BC) Limited 

Canada 
(Ontario)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Lithium  
Holdings Limited  
Liability Company

United States 
(Delaware)

Limited 
company

100% 100% Dormant

Galaxy Lithium 
(Colorado) Inc. 

United States 
(Colorado)

Limited 
company

100% 100%
Investment holding 
company

Galaxy Lithium  
(Sal de Vida) S.A. 

Argentina 
(Salta)

Stock 
Company

100% 100%
Exploration and 
Development of  
Sal de Vida Project
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29. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(a)	Critical judgements 

Impairment of assets, reversal of impairments on assets

The recoverable amount of each non-financial asset or Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) is determined as the higher 
of the value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal, in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies  
(see note 30(e)). Determination of the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU based on a discounted cash flow 
model, requires the use of estimates and assumptions, including: the appropriate rate at which to discount the 
cash flows, the timing of cash flow and expected life of the relevant area of interest, exchange rates, commodity 
prices, ore reserves, future capital requirements and future operating performance. 

Changes in these estimates and assumptions impact the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU,  
and accordingly could result in an adjustment to the carrying amount of that asset or CGU. 

(b) 	Estimates and assumptions 

(i) 	 Ore reserves

Economically recoverable ore reserves represent the estimated quantity of product in an area of interest that 
can be expected to be profitably extracted, processed and sold under current and foreseeable economic 
conditions. The Group determines and reports ore reserves under the standards incorporated in the 
Australasian Code for Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, 2012 edition 
(the JORC Code). The determination of ore reserves includes estimates and assumptions about a range of 
geological, technical and economic factors, including: quantities, grades, productions techniques, recovery 
rates, production costs, transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.  
Changes in ore reserves impact the assessment of recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets, 
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of assets depreciated on a units of production basis, 
provision for site restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, including tax losses. 

(ii)	 Exploration and evaluation assets

Determining the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets capitalised in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy (see note 30c)) requires estimates and assumptions as to future events and 
circumstances, in particular, whether successful development and commercial exploration, or alternatively 
sale, of the respective areas of interest will be achieved. Critical to this assessment is estimates and 
assumptions as to ore reserves (see note 29(b)(i) above), the timing of expected cash flows, exchange rates, 
commodity prices and future capital requirements. Changes in these estimates and assumptions as new 
information about the presence or recoverability of an ore reserve becomes available, may impact  
the assessment of the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. If, after having capitalised 
the expenditure under the accounting policies, a judgment is made that the recovery of the expenditure  
is unlikely, an impairment loss is recorded in the profit or loss in accordance with accounting policy  
(see note 30(e)). 

(iii)	  Provision for rehabilitation

Determining the cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration of the area disturbed during mining 
activities in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy (see note 30(i)), requires the use of significant 
estimates and assumptions, including: the appropriate rate at which to discount the liability, the timing of 
the cash flows and expected life of the relevant area of interest, the application of relevant environmental 
legislation, and the future expected costs of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration. 

Changes in the estimates and assumptions used to determine the cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and 
restoration could have a material impact on the carrying value of the site restoration provision and related 
asset. The provision recognised for each site is reviewed at each reporting date and updated based on the 
facts and circumstances available at the time.
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29. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(iv)	 Share based payments

The fair value of employee share options and share appreciation rights is measured using Black Scholes and 
Monte-Carlo simulation. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the 
instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected 
due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical 
experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, the risk-free interest rate (based 
on government bonds) and probability applied to the non-vesting conditions (based on management’s 
judgement formed in consideration of all the available facts and circumstances). 

Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in 
determining fair value. Any different estimates and assumptions affecting the measurement inputs would have 
resulted in different grant date fair values, which would have changed equity settled share-based payments 
expense. Subsequent changes to this estimate could have a significant effect on share based payment 
expense and the associated equity-settled payments reserve. 

(v)	 Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued 
by the group. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date. 

The financial assets and liabilities acquired are assessed for appropriate classification and designation in 
accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s accounting policies and other 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date to finalise the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities.

(vi)	 Recoverability and measurement of current and deferred tax assets

Recognition of deferred tax assets, including those related to tax losses, depends on the management’s 
expectation of future taxable profit that will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. Actual 
utilisation of tax losses will be dependent on the Company passing the continuity of ownership test. If the 
Company fails this test, then the same business test criteria will have to be met. Failure to meet the criteria of 
either test will put at risk tax losses recognised as deferred tax assets of $53.6 million (2016: $64.7 million). 

30. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

a)	 Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”). Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 	has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
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30. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the  
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of the consolidated subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the fair value of those interests at 
the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling interest’s share of the changes in equity 
since the date of the combination. 

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to  
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

b)	 Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits at fair value on the date that they are 
originated. All other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are 
recognised initially at fair value on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial 
assets and loans and receivables. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is 
designated as such upon initial recognition. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when 
incurred. These assets are initially measured at fair value and changes thereafter are recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months  
or less.
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30. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Available-for-sale financial assets 

The Group’s investments in equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment 
losses, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity.  
When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

c)	 Exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources is the search for mineral resources after the Group has 
obtained legal rights to explore in a specific area, as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting the mineral resources. Accordingly, exploration and evaluation assets are those 
expenditures incurred by the Group in connection with the exploration for and evaluation of minerals resources 
before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable.

Accounting for exploration and evaluation assets is assessed separately for each ‘area of interest’. An ‘area 
of interest’ is an individual geological area which is considered to constitute a favourable environment for the 
presence of a mineral deposit or has been proved to contain such a deposit. 

Expenditure incurred on activities that precede exploration and evaluation of mineral resources, including all 
expenditure incurred prior to securing legal rights to explore an area, is expensed as incurred. For each area  
of interest the expenditure is recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset where the following conditions 
are satisfied:

a)	 The rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

b)	 At least one of the following conditions is also met:

i)	� The expenditure is expected to be recouped through successful development and commercial exploitation 
of an area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or

ii)	� Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at reporting date, reached a stage 
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of ‘economically recoverable 
reserves’ and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

Economically recoverable reserves are the estimated quantity of product in an area of interest that can be 
expected to be profitably extracted, processed and sold under current and foreseeable conditions.

Intangible exploration and evaluation assets include:

•	 Acquisition of rights to explore;

•	 Topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies;

•	 Exploratory drilling, trenching, and sampling; 

•	 Activities in relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the  
mineral resource; and

•	 	General and administrative costs allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration and evaluation 
assets only to the extent that those costs can be related directly to the operational activities in the area 
of interest to which the exploration and evaluation assets relate. In all other instances, these costs are 
expensed as incurred. 

Tangible exploration and evaluation assets include piping and pumps, tanks, exploration vehicles and drilling 
equipment, drilling rights, acquired rights to explore, exploratory drilling costs and trenching and sampling costs.

Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to development expenditure, which is disclosed as a component 
of property, plant and equipment, once technical feasibility and commercial viability of an area of interest is 
demonstrable. Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment at that stage, and any impairment 
loss is recognised, prior to being reclassified.

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and 
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sales of the respective area of interest.
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Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical 
feasibility and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount.

Impairment testing of exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and  
circumstances exist:

•	 	The term of exploration licence in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting period  
or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

•	 	Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area 
are not budgeted nor planned;

•	 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery 
of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such 
activities in the specified area; or

•	 Sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed,  
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is unlikely to be recovered in full from a 
successful development or by sale.

Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each CGU which is no larger than  
the area of interest. 

d)	 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of  
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the  
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and borrowing costs. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of  
that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items of property, plant and equipment. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant  
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment and are recognised net within profit or loss. 

Subsequent costs

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing 
part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in 
profit or loss as an expense as incurred. 

Assets under construction

Assets under construction represent property, plant and equipment under construction and are stated at cost less 
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction. Depreciation of these costs commences when 
substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are complete.

Development expenditure

Development expenditure relates to costs incurred to access a mineral resource. It represents those costs incurred 
after the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been demonstrated 
and an identified mineral reserve is being prepared for production (but is not yet in production).

Significant factors considered in determining the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project  
are the completion of a feasibility study, the existence of sufficient proven and probable reserves to proceed  
with development and approval by the board of directors to proceed with development of the project.
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Development expenditure is capitalised as either a tangible or intangible asset depending on the nature of the 
costs incurred. 

Development expenditure includes the following:

•	 	Reclassified exploration and evaluation assets;

•	 Direct costs of construction;

•	 	Pre-production stripping costs; and

•	 	An appropriate allocation of overheads and borrowing costs incurred during the development phase.

Capitalisation of development expenditure ceases once the mining property is capable of commercial production, 
at which point it is depreciated in accordance with accounting policy set out below in this note. Any development 
expenditure incurred once a mine property is in production is immediately expensed to profit or loss except where 
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity, in which case it is capitalised as property, plant 
and equipment.

Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss over the estimated useful life of each part or item of property, plant 
and equipment or over the remaining life of mine. Development expenditure is depreciated or amortised over 
the remaining life of mine. The estimated life of mine is based upon geological resources and is reviewed on an 
annual basis.

•	 Freehold land	 Not depreciated

•	 Plant and equipment	 3 – 20 years and units of production

•	 Development expenditure	� Units of production basis over the total estimated measured  
and indicated resources related to the area of interest

De-recognition

Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net  
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the profit or loss in the period the item  
is derecognised.

e)	 Impairment of assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and 
receivables) at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for specific 
impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that 
has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for 
impairment by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of 
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current  
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested  
by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account 
against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the 
discount. When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss  
to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
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Available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in 
the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in profit or loss. Changes in cumulative impairment 
losses attributable to application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income. 
Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its 
related CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. 
Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part 
of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated 
to reduce the carrying amounts of assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 

Reversal of impairment for property, plant and equipment

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

f)	 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the 
first-in, first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion 
costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Cost also may include 
transfers from other comprehensive income of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency 
purchases of inventories.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses.

g)	 Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised 
when significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the 
consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is 
no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
For spodumene concentrate sales, the above conditions are generally satisfied when title passes to the customer, 
typically on the bill of lading date when ore is delivered to the vessel. Accordingly, revenue from sales of 
spodumene concentrate is recognised on the bill of lading date at an invoiced amount.
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h)	 Cost of Sales

Cost of goods sold is the inventory value of each tonne of finished product sold. All production is added to 
inventory at cost, which includes direct costs and depreciation and amortisation, allocated on the basis of ore 
tonnes mined. The inventory value recognised as cost of goods sold for each tonne of finished product sold is  
the weighted average cost per tonne for the product sold.

Inventory movement represents the movement in statement of financial position inventory of finished goods, 
including the non-cash depreciation and amortisation components and movement in the net realisable  
value adjustments.

i)	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

In accordance with the Group’s published environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for 
site restoration is recognised in respect of the estimated cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration 
of the area disturbed during mining activities up to reporting date, but not yet rehabilitated. Such activities 
include dismantling infrastructure, removal and treatment of waste material, and land rehabilitation, including 
recontouring, topsoiling and revegetation of the disturbed area.

Provision for rehabilitation

At each reporting date the site restoration provision is re-measured to reflect any changes in discount rates 
and timing or amounts of the costs to be incurred. Such changes in the estimated liability are accounted for 
prospectively from the date of the change and are added to, or deducted from, the related asset where it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity.

j)	 Finance income and finance costs
Finance income represents interest income on funds invested and fair value gains/losses on financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, bank charges and other related financing costs.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the 
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred using the effective 
interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance costs 
depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

k)	 Foreign currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency of 
the Company and its Australian subsidiary. The functional currencies of the Company’s Hong Kong subsidiary, 
US subsidiaries, Canadian subsidiaries, Argentinian subsidiary and Dutch subsidiary are Hong Kong dollars 
(“HKD”), US dollars (“USD”), Canada dollars (“CAD”) and Euro (“EUR”) respectively.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the 
functional currency of the entity at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.

77GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



30. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency transactions

The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and 
the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year. Foreign exchange 
differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of  
the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value 
are translated to the functional currency of the entity at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value 
was determined. 

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at exchange rates at the 
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign 
currency translation reserve in equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant 
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that 
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

l)	 Employee benefits
Short term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected as the related service is provided. A liability 
is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share based payment transactions

The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees (including directors) is 
recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees 
unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The fair value of employee share options and share appreciation 
rights are measured using a Black Scholes option valuation model (“Black Scholes”) or Monte-Carlo valuation 
model (“Monte-Carlo”).

Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected 
volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available 
information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general 
option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 
Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in 
determining fair value.

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service 
and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an 
expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions 
at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of 
the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between 
expected and actual outcomes.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own 
equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the 
equity instruments are obtained by the Group.
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m)	Taxes

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case the 
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in equity or in other comprehensive income, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years as applicable to the jurisdictions concerned.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses.

The following are temporary differences for which deferred taxes are not provided: initial recognition of goodwill, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not 
part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent 
that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable 
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their assets and liabilities 
will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing 
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same 
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible 
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back 
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences 
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses, that is those differences are taken 
into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse 
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) or Value Added Tax (“VAT”)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST or VAT, except where the amount of  
GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the relevant taxation authorities. In these circumstances the GST or 
VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables 
and payables are stated with the amount of GST or VAT included. The net amount of the GST or VAT recoverable 
from or payable to the relevant taxation authorities is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statements on a gross basis. The GST or VAT components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from or payable to the relevant taxation 
authorities are classified as operating cash flows.

Tax consolidation

The Company and the Australian subsidiary, Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited, formed a tax consolidated group 
on 1 July 2008 under Australian taxation laws, whereby all entities within the tax consolidated group are taxed 
as a single entity. On 29 December 2016, General Mining Corporation Limited entered the tax consolidated 
group. The head entity of the tax consolidated group is Galaxy Resources Limited.
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n)	 Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Managing 
Director to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for 
which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Managing Director include items directly attributable to a segment as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred 
during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill.

o)	 Revenue from Sale of Products
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an 
executed sales agreement, indicating that there has been a transfer of risks and rewards of ownership  
to the customer, no further work or processing is required by the Group, the quantity of the products have  
been determined with reasonable accuracy, the price can be reasonably estimated and collectability is 
reasonably assured.

p)	 Deferred Income
Deferred income represents payments collected but not earned at the end of the reporting period. These payments 
are recognised as revenue when the goods are delivered are provided.

q)	 Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as contributed equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in share capital as a deduction from the proceeds, net of any tax effects.

A contract that will be settled by the entity delivering a fixed number of its own equity instruments in exchange 
for a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset is an equity instrument. Any consideration received from 
such equity instrument is credited to contributed equity. Subsequent changes in fair value of such equity instrument 
subsequently are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

r)	 Earnings per share
Basic and diluted profit or loss per share is determined by dividing the profit or loss after income tax attributable 
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year. Basic and diluted profit or loss per share is also determined separately for continuing and 
discontinued operations. The weighted average number of shares used in calculation of diluted earnings per 
share is adjusted for the effect of options and share appreciation rights except if anti-dilutive.

s)	 Related parties
For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i)	� the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to control the Group or 
exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint 
control over the Group;

(ii)	 the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii)	the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv)	�the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family 
member of such individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant influence of such 
individuals;

(v)	� the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or 
significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi)	�the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity 
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.
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t)	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the annual reporting period 
commencing 1 January 2017:

1. �AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012-2014 cycle; and

2. �AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure initiative Amendments  
to AASB 101.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the current period or any prior period and is not 
likely to affect future periods.

u)	 Accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for  
31 December 2017 reporting periods. These standards and interpretations have not been early adopted. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). 
AASB 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
and introduces new rules for hedge accounting. The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure 
requirements and changes in presentation. These are expected to change the nature and extent of the  
Group’s disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of the new standard. 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and the Group has 
determined that AASB 9 will have no material impact on the way the Group accounts for its financial instruments. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on  
or after 1 January 2018). AASB 15 introduces new framework for accounting for revenue and will replace  
AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 Construction Contracts. The new standard is based on the principle that 
revenue is recognised when control over goods and services transfers to a customer, therefore the notion of 
control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. The Group sells a significant proportion of its products 
where control of the goods passes at the port of loading. AASB 15 requires the individual components of revenue 
to be recognised separately. The Group has determined that AASB 15 will have no material impact on the way 
the Group accounts for its revenue. 

AASB 16 Leases (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  
AASB 16 introduces new framework for accounting for leases and will replace AASB 117 Leases.  
The new standard will primarily affect the accounting by lessees and will result in the recognition of almost all 
leases on the balance sheet. The standard removes the current distinction between operating and financing leases 
and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals for 
almost all lease contracts. As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating leases in relation 
to office rentals and equipment. Management is continuing to determine the extent that these operating leases  
will be recognised as assets and liabilities on the Company’s statement of financial position, the impact on  
profit and classification of the related cash flows. Some of the operating leases in existence at the reporting date 
will be exempt on the basis of being short-term or low value.

v)	 Determining the parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated  
financial statements.
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w)	Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether 
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 
comprises the:

•	 fair values of the assets transferred;

•	 	liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

•	 	equity interests issued by the Group;

•	 	fair value of any assets or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and

•	 	fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are,  
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any 
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the:

•	 	consideration transferred;

•	 	amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and

•	 	acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than 
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit 
or loss as a bargain purchase. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted 
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, 
being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable 
terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising 
from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In the Directors’ opinion:

(a)	� the financial statements and notes set out on pages 6 to 82 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including:

i.	� complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements; and 

ii.	� giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2017 and its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b)	� there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the  
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Anthony Tse 
Chief Executive Officer & 
Managing Director

Dated in Perth on 22 March 2018.

GALAXY RESOURCES LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 31 DECEMBER 2017

58

In the Directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 1 to 57 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:

i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements; and

ii. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2017 and its performance
for the year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Anthony Tse
Chief Executive Officer &
Managing Director

Dated in Perth on 22 March 2018.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Brookfield Place, 125 St Georges Terrace, PERTH  WA  6000, GPO Box D198, PERTH  WA  6840
T: +61 8 9238 3000, F: +61 8 9238 3999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s report
To the members of Galaxy Resources Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Our opinion
In our opinion:

The accompanying financial report of Galaxy Resources Limited (the Company) and its controlled 
entities (together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2017 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

What we have audited
The Group financial report comprises:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
• the consolidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income for the year 

then ended
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 

accounting policies
• the directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code.
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Our audit approach
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates.

The primary activity of the Group in the current year has been finalising the recommissioning of the 
Mt Cattlin operation in Western Australia which returned to production in the year as well as 
progressing exploration and development activities in Canada and Argentina.

Materiality

• For the purpose of our audit we used an overall group materiality of $6.1 million, which represents 
approximately 1% of the Group’s total assets.

• We applied this threshold, together with qualitative considerations, to determine the scope of our audit and 
the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements on the 
financial report as a whole.

• As the Group was only operating and earning revenue for part of the year from one of its three key assets, we 
chose total assets as the materiality benchmark rather than profit before tax. Total assets are more reflective 
of the Group’s size and scale given that a significant portion of its assets are still in the exploration and 
development phase. The use of total assets as a benchmark provides a level of materiality which, in our view, 
is appropriate for the audit having regard to the expected requirements of users of the Group’s financial 
report.

• We utilised a 1% threshold based on our professional judgement, noting it is within the range of commonly 
acceptable thresholds for entities of this nature.

Audit Scope

• Our audit focused on where the Group made subjective judgements; for example, significant accounting 
estimates involving assumptions and inherently uncertain future events.

• Our audit procedures were predominantly performed in Perth where many of the corporate and group 
operations functions are centralised. We also visited the Mt Cattlin operations during the year.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context. We communicated the key audit matters to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Determination of commercial production at Mt 
Cattlin
(Refer to Note 3(a))

During the year, the Group determined that Mt Cattlin 
achieved commercial production on 1 May 2017.

The determination of the date of commencing 
commercial production at Mt Cattlin was a key audit 
matter due to the significant accounting and disclosure 
implications which arise from this determination and 
the subjective considerations involved.

The date of commercial production establishes the 
point at which revenue from the sales of spodumene 
and associated production costs are recognised in profit 
or loss and non-current assets are depreciated or 
amortised over their expected lives.

Whether commercial production is achieved depends 
on the outcome of a number of subjective 
considerations, including production and processing at 
an acceptable level of design capacity, mineral 
recoveries at or near expected levels and the 
achievement of continuous production or other output 
criteria.

To assess the date of commercial production and the 
related accounting implications, we performed the 
following audit procedures, amongst others:

• We inspected the Mt Cattlin production data 
for the year in order to assess ore grade, ore 
processing and plant recovery rates by month.
We inspected this data and made enquiries
with Galaxy mining and engineering 
personnel on site.

• We evaluated the cut-off of revenue and 
production costs on a sample basis to assess 
whether all such revenue and costs incurred
prior to the date of commercial production 
were booked against property, plant and 
equipment and mine development costs. Our 
tests noted that all revenue and production 
costs that arose subsequent to commercial 
production were recognised in profit and loss
in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policies.

• We tested the depreciation charged to 
property, plant and equipment and mine 
development costs from 1 May 2017 over the 
useful lives or units of production rate 
appropriate for the underlying assets.

• We also evaluated the adequacy of the 
disclosures made in Note 3 in light of the 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recognition and measurement of deferred tax 
assets in Australia
(Refer to note 19) $53.6 million

At 31 December 2017, the Group recognised $53.6
million of net deferred tax assets in Australia which 
included $73.2 million for the anticipated benefit of 
utilising carry forward tax losses to reduce future tax 
payable. 

The recognition and measurement of these deferred tax 
assets was a key audit matter given that there was 
significant judgement in assessing whether Mt Cattlin 
will generate sufficient future taxable profits to utilise 
the carry forward tax losses.

We obtained and tested the accuracy of the Group’s 
reconciliation of the available carry forward tax losses 
at 31 December 2017. We also considered advice that 
the Group received with respect to the availability of 
these losses under current Income Tax Legislation.

We evaluated the Group’s rationale for the recognition 
and measurement of the net deferred tax assets of 
$53.6 million by obtaining calculations of forecast 
taxable income for the operations of Mt Cattlin in order 
to evaluate the Group’s conclusion that sufficient 
taxable income would likely be earned in the future to 
utilise the tax losses for which deferred tax assets have 
been recognised.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  Prior to the date of this auditor's report, 
the other information we obtained included the Directors’ Report. We expect the remaining other 
information to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report, including Chairman’s 
Letter to Shareholders, Corporate Governance Statement and ASX Additional Information. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information not yet received as identified above, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use 
our professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Act 2001 and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report.

Report on the remuneration report

Our opinion on the remuneration report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 24 to 30 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 31 December 2017.

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Galaxy Resources Limited for the year ended 31 December 
2017 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Nick Henry Perth
Partner 22 March 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The ASX Listing Rules require the Company to prepare a corporate governance statement which discloses the extent 
to which the Company has complied with the recommendations contained in the 3rd edition of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations.

Further information about the Company’s corporate governance practices can be located on the Company’s website at 
www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com 

This statement was approved by the Board of Directors and is current as at 19 March 2018.

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

ASX Recommendation 1.1: A listed entity should disclose:

(a)	 the respective roles and responsibilities of its Board and management; and 

(b)	 those matters expressly reserved to the Board and those delegated to management. 

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Board has adopted a formal Board Charter that details the respective Board and management roles and 
responsibilities as well as those matters expressly reserved to the Board and those delegated to management. A copy of the 
Board Charter is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website at www.galaxylithium.com  
or www.gxy.com

ASX Recommendation 1.2: A listed entity should undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or putting 
forward to security holders a candidate for election as a director, and provide security holders with all material information 
in its possession relevant to a decision on whether or not to elect or re-elect a director.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

During the period from 1 January 2017 until the date of this statement the following Directors were appointed to the Board:

Director			   Date of Appointment

Mr Peter Bacchus		  3 January 2017

Mr John Turner		  3 January 2017

Ms Xi Xi			   14 May 20171 

Ms Florencia Heredia	 1 January 2018

1. Ms Xi resigned effective 11 September 2017

As part of the appointment process for each of these Director an independent reference checking organisation was 
commissioned to undertake various background checks on each Director. 

Biographical and other relevant details about each of Mr Bacchus, Mr Turner and Ms Xi were provided to shareholders 
prior to and at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 May 2017 at which each of these Directors was elected.

Information in relation to Ms Heredia is set out in the Directors’ Report and on the Company’s website, and will  
be provided to shareholders prior to the Annual General Meeting at which Ms Heredia is nominated for election  
by shareholders.
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ASX Recommendation 1.3: A listed entity should have a written agreement with each Director and senior executive setting 
out the terms of their appointment.

The Company has complied with this recommendation. 

Each Director and each senior executive has a written agreement setting out the terms of their appointment. Key details are 
included in the Remuneration Report. 

ASX Recommendation 1.4: The company secretary of a listed company should be accountable directly to the Board, 
through the chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the board.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Board Charter provides for the Company Secretary to be accountable directly to the Board through the Chairman.

ASX Recommendation 1.5: A listed entity should:

(a)	� have a diversity policy which includes the requirement for the Board or a relevant committee of the Board to set 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and assess annually both the objectives and the entity’s progress 
in achieving them;

(b)	disclose that policy or a summary of it; 

(c)	� disclose as at the end of each reporting period the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the 
Board or a relevant committee of the Board in accordance with the entity’s diversity policy and its progress towards 
achieving them; and

(d)	� disclose the respective proportions of men and women on the Board, in senior executive positions and across the whole 
organisation (including how the entity has defined “senior executive” for these purposes).

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company has adopted a Diversity Policy which is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s 
website at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

The measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the Board in accordance with the Company’s Diversity 
Policy and its progress towards achieving them are as follows:

Objective							       Target 2017		  Actual 2017

1.	 Proportion of women Directors					     15%			   16.67%1

2.	 Proportion of women employed in Senior Executive roles2		  25%			   20%

3.	 Proportion of women employed across the Company		  25%			   24%

4.	 Maintain nil gender pay gap for ‘like for like’ roles3			  Nil			   Nil

Notes:
1.	� This objective was achieved during the period of Ms Xi Xi’s appointment to the board between May and September 2017 and 

following Ms Florencia Heredia’s appointment from 1 January 2018.
2.	� “Senior Executive” for the purpose of these diversity objectives is defined to mean those persons with a direct or indirect reporting line 

to the Chief Executive Officer. 
3.	� The ‘like for like’ gender pay gap measures the difference in base salary over the year between female and male employees in 

comparable roles.
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ASX Recommendation 1.6: A listed entity should:

(a)	� have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and individual 
directors; and 

(b)	� disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The process for periodically evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and individual directors is set  
out in the Board Charter, a copy of which is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website at 
www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

Performance reviews were undertaken during the reporting period in accordance with that process. 

ASX Recommendation 1.7: A listed entity should:

(a)	have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of its senior executives; and 

(b)	� disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The process for periodically evaluating the performance of the Company’s senior executives is set out in the Board Charter, 
a copy of which is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website at www.galaxylithium.com  
or www.gxy.com

Evaluations of senior executive performance were undertaken in accordance with that process during the reporting period. 

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

ASX Recommendation 2.1: The board of a listed entity should:

(a)	� have a nomination committee which has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors and 
which is chaired by an independent director; and

(b)	� disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and, as at the end of each reporting period,  
the number of times the committee met throughout the period and the individual attendance of the members at  
those meetings.

The Company has partially complied with this recommendation.

The composition of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is as follows:

From 29 March 2017 to 19 March 2018	 From 19 March 2018

Mr John Turner (Chairman)			  Mr John Turner (Chairman)		  
Mr Peter Bacchus				    Mr Martin Rowley				    
Mr Martin Rowley				   Ms Florencia Heredia 
Mr Jian-Nan Zhang

From the start of the period until the appointment of Mr Peter Bacchus and Mr John Turner on 29 March 2017 the 
committee comprised the two independent non-executive Directors on the Board. 

A copy of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter is available in the corporate governance section of the 
Company’s website at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

The number of meetings held during 2017 and the individual attendance of the members at those meetings are set out in 
the Directors’ Report. 
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ASX Recommendation 2.2: A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and 
diversity that the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership.

The Company has complied with this recommendation. 

The Board has established a skill matrix. On a collective basis the Board has the following skills:

•	 Strategic expertise - ability to identify and critically assess strategic opportunities and threats, as well as develop 
strategies to manage them.

•	 	Specific industry knowledge - broad background and experience in the lithium value chain, as well as the industrials 
and resources sector including exploration, mining, project development and operations.

•	 	International experience - an understanding of the complexities of operating in foreign jurisdictions.

•	 	Accounting and finance - either specific qualifications and experience in accounting and finance related fields or the 
ability to read and comprehend the Company’s accounts, financial material presented to the Board, financial reporting 
requirements and an understanding of corporate finance.

•	 	Risk management - ability to identify and monitor risks to which the Company is, or has the potential to be, exposed to.

•	 	Experience with financial markets - experience in corporate finance and the equity/debt or capital markets.

•	 	Investor relations - experience in identifying and establishing relationships with shareholders, potential investors, 
institutions and equity analysts.

•	 Legal - either specific legal qualifications and experience in general corporate, mining, fiscal and labour laws and/or 
the ability to consider the legal requirements of the Company’s business operations and transactions contemplated by 
the Company, across the multiple jurisdictions in which it operates.

ASX Recommendation 2.3: A listed entity should disclose:

(a)	 the names of the directors considered by the board to be independent directors, 

(b)	� if a director has an interest, position, association or relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 but the board is of the 
opinion that it does not compromise the independence of the director, the nature of the interest, position, association or 
relationship in question and an explanation of why the board is of that opinion; and

(c)	 the length of service of each Director.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

During the period from 1 January 2017 until the date of this report the independence and length of service of each 
Director is as follows:

Director			   Independent		  Date of Appointment		  Length of Service

Mr Martin Rowley 	 Yes			   28 November 2013		  4 years 4 months 
Mr Anthony Tse		  No			   13 October 2010			  7 years 5 months 
Mr Peter Bacchus		  Yes			   3 January 2017			   1 year 2 months 
Ms Florencia Heredia	 Yes			   1 January 2018			   2 months 
Mr John Turner		  Yes			   3 January 2017			   1 year 2 months 
Ms Xi Xi			   Yes			   14 May 2017 			   4 months 
Mr Jian-Nan Zhang	 Yes			   28 November 2013		  4 years 4 months

Notes:
1.	 Mr Tse is also the Chief Executive Officer and so is not independent.
2.	 Ms Xi resigned with effect from 11 September 2017.
3.	� Mr Turner and Ms Heredia are partners of, and Mr Bacchus is Chairman of, entities which provide professional services to the 

Company (as set out in more detail in the Remuneration Report). The Board has determined that the value of these services is not 
sufficiently material to interfere with the directors’ capacity to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues before the Board  
and to act in the best interests of the Company and its security holders in general.
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ASX Recommendation 2.4: A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent directors.

The Company has complied with this recommendation. 

At all times during the period, and as at the date of this statement, the Board has been comprised of a majority of 
independent Directors. 

ASX Recommendation 2.5: The chair of a listed entity should be an independent director and, in particular, should not be 
the same person as the CEO of the entity.

The Company has complied with this recommendation. 

The Chairman, Mr Martin Rowley, is an independent Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is  
Mr Anthony Tse.

ASX Recommendation 2.6: A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors and provide appropriate 
professional development opportunities for directors to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to perform 
their role as directors effectively.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Board is responsible for providing new Directors with an induction to the Company and for providing adequate 
professional development opportunities for Directors and management.

PRINCIPLE 3: ACT ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY

ASX Recommendation 3.1: A listed entity should have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives and employees 
and disclose that code or a summary of it.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

Copies of the Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct and Directors’ Code of Conduct are available in the corporate 
governance section of the Company’s website at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING 

ASX Recommendation 4.1: The board of a listed entity should:

(a)	� have an audit committee which has at least three members, all of whom are non-executive directors and a majority of 
whom are independent directors and is chaired by an independent director who is not the chair of the board; and

(b)	� disclose the charter of the committee, the relevant qualifications and experience of the members of the committee and, 
in relation to each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those meetings.

The Company has partially complied with this recommendation.

The composition of the Audit and Risk Committee is as follows:

From 29 March 2017 to 19 March 2018		  From 19 March 2018

Mr Peter Bacchus (Chairman)			   Mr Peter Bacchus (Chairman) 
Mr Martin Rowley					    Mr Martin Rowley 
Mr John Turner 					     Mr John Turner  
Mr Jian-Nan Zhang	

From the start of the period until the appointment of Mr Peter Bacchus and Mr John Turner on 29 March 2017 the 
committee comprised the two independent non-executive Directors on the Board. 

A copy of the Audit and Risk Committee Charter is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website 
at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

The relevant qualifications and experience of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee, the number of meetings held 
during 2017 and the individual attendance of the members at those meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report. 
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ASX Recommendation 4.2: The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s financial statements for a 
financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the financial records of the entity have 
been properly maintained and that the financial statements comply with the appropriate accounting standards and give a 
true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis 
of a sound system of risk management and internal control which is operating effectively.

The Company has partially complied with this recommendation. 

The Board received the declaration required by ASX Recommendation 4.2 from the CEO and CFO prior to approval  
of the Company’s:

•	 financial statements for the half year ended 30 June 2017 and the full year ended 31 December 2017; and 

•	 	quarterly cash flow statements for the periods ending 30 September 2017 and 31 December 2017.

The Board did not receive the declarations in respect of the quarterly reports and quarterly cash flow statements for the 
periods ending 31 March 2017 and 30 June 2017 as it believed that the provision of the declaration for the preceding 
half and full year financial statements was sufficient. 

ASX Recommendation 4.3: A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its external auditor attends its AGM and is 
available to answer questions from security holders relevant to the audit.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company’s external auditor attended the 2017 Annual General Meeting and was available to answer questions from 
security holders relevant to the audit, including questions relating to the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of 
the auditor’s report, the accounting policies adopted by the Company in the preparation of its financial statements and the 
independence of the auditor in relation to the conduct of the audit.

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

ASX Recommendation 5.1: A listed entity should have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure 
obligations under the ASX Listing Rules and disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website at 
www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

ASX Recommendation 6.1: A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance to investors  
via its website.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company’s website at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com contains information about the Company’s projects, 
Directors and senior management and the Company’s corporate governance practices, policies and charters. Copies of all 
Company announcements are also made available on the website following release by the ASX. 

ASX Recommendation 6.2: A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations program to facilitate effective 
two-way communication with investors.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company’s Managing Director & CEO is the Company’s main contact for investors and potential investors and makes 
himself available to discuss the Company’s activities when requested, together with other Directors or senior executives as 
required. In addition to ASX announcements made in accordance with its continuous disclosure obligations, the Company 
from time to time prepares and releases investor briefing presentations about the Company.

The Company has a Director, Corporate Development and a Director, Corporate Affairs whose roles encompass dealing 
with investor enquires and communicating with shareholders, potential investors, brokers and institutions.

Contact with the Company can be made via an email address and a phone number provided on the Company’s website.
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ASX Recommendation 6.3: A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate and 
encourage participation at meetings of security holders.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company encourages participation of shareholders at its Annual General Meeting each year. Shareholders are 
encouraged to attend in person or by proxy. At each Annual General Meeting the Chairman allows a reasonable 
opportunity for shareholders to ask questions of the Board and the external auditors.

Copies of all notices of meetings and explanatory material are made available via the Company’s website at  
www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com as soon as they have been released by the ASX. 

ASX Recommendation 6.4: A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security register electronically

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

Contact with the Company can be made via the phone number and the email address provided on the website.  
The Company also has a facility for people to register to receive Company announcements via email.

The Company’s share register provides a facility whereby investors can provide email addresses to receive correspondence 
from the Company electronically and investors can contact the share register via telephone, facsimile or email.

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 

ASX Recommendation 7.1: The Board of a listed entity should:

(a)	� have a committee to oversee risk which has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent director  
and which is chaired by an independent director; and

(b)	� disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and as at the end of each reporting period  
the number of times the committee met throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at  
those meetings.

The Company has partially complied with this recommendation.

The composition of the Audit and Risk Committee is as follows:

From 29 March 2017 to 19 March 2018		  From 19 March 2018

Mr Peter Bacchus (Chairman)			   Mr Peter Bacchus (Chairman) 
Mr Martin Rowley					    Mr Martin Rowley 
Mr John Turner 					     Mr John Turner  
Mr Jian-Nan Zhang	

From the start of the period until the appointment of Mr Peter Bacchus and Mr John Turner on 29 March 2017 the 
committee comprised the two independent non-executive Directors on the Board. 

A copy of the Audit and Risk Committee Charter is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website 
at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

The number of meetings held during 2017 and the individual attendance of the members at those meetings are set out in 
the Directors’ Report. 

ASX Recommendation 7.2: The board or a committee of the board should:

(a)	 review the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues to be sound; and

(b)	disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such a review has taken place.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Board and the Audit and Risk Committee conducted a review of the Company’s risk management framework during 
2017 and satisfied themselves that it continues to be sound.
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ASX Recommendation 7.3: A listed entity should disclose:

(a)	 if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs; or

(b)	� if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for evaluating and continually 
improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes.

The Company has complied with this recommendation. 

The Company does not currently have an internal audit function.

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Company’s risk management and control framework. Responsibility for 
control and design of risk management is delegated to the appropriate level of management within the Company  
with the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer being responsible to the Board for the risk management and 
control framework.

ASX Recommendation 7.4: A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, environmental 
and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company has exposure to economic risks, including general economy wide economic risks and risks associated with 
the economic cycle. 

There may be a requirement in the future for the Company to raise additional funding to pursue its business objectives.  
The Company’s ability to raise capital may be affected by these economic risks. 

The Company is also exposed to commodity pricing, interest rate and foreign exchange risk. 

The Company has in place risk management procedures and processes to identify, manage and minimise its exposure 
to these economic risks where appropriate. For further information see the notes accompanying the Company’s 2017 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The current operations of the Company are subject to provincial, state and federal laws and regulations concerning the 
environment. As with most exploration projects and mining operations, the Company’s activities are expected to have an 
impact on the environment. It is the Company’s intention to conduct its activities in compliance with all environmental laws 
and to the highest environmental standards so as to minimise the impacts of these activities on the environment.

The Board has established a Health, Safety, Environment and Community (HSEC) Committee which is tasked  
with overseeing HSEC risks and compliance within the Company. The members of the HSEC Committee are  
Ms Florencia Heredia (Chair), Mr Peter Bacchus and Mr Jian-Nan Zhang.

The Company has also recruited senior HSEC personnel with responsibility for identifying and managing HSEC risk across 
the different jurisdictions in which the Company operates. The Company currently works closely and collaboratively with 
the communities located near its operations, including implementing various initiatives to improve the living standards and 
employment opportunities of the members of those local communities.

PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

ASX Recommendation 8.1: The board of a listed entity should:

(a)	� establish a remuneration committee which has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors 
and which is chaired by an independent director; and

(b)	� disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and as at the end of each reporting period the 
number of times the committee met throughout the period and the individual attendances of members at those meetings.

The Company has partially complied with this recommendation.

The composition of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is as follows:
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From 29 March 2017 to 19 March 2018		  From 19 March 2018

Mr John Turner (Chairman)				   Mr John Turner (Chairman) 
Mr Peter Bacchus					     Mr Martin Rowley 
Mr Martin Rowley					    Ms Florencia Heredia 
Mr Jian-Nan Zhang	

From the start of the period until the appointment of Mr Peter Bacchus and Mr John Turner on 29 March 2017 the 
committee comprised two independent non-executive Directors. 

A copy of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter is available in the corporate governance section of the 
Company’s website at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com

The number of meetings held during 2017 and the individual attendance of the members at those meetings are set out in 
the Directors’ Report. 

ASX Recommendation 8.2: A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the remuneration 
of non-executive directors and the remuneration of executive directors and other senior executives.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

Non-Executive Directors are paid a fixed annual fee for their service to the Company and may, subject to shareholder 
approval, be granted equity based remuneration.

The Managing Director is paid a fixed annual fee for his service to the Company and may also be entitled to a cash bonus 
based on satisfactory performance where approved by the Board. Following receipt of shareholder approval at the 2017 
Annual General Meeting, the Managing Director also received equity based remuneration in the form of options over the 
Company’s shares. 

Senior executives of the Company receive fixed remuneration comprising a base salary, superannuation and other fixed 
benefits based on the terms of their employment agreements with the Company. They may also be entitled to a cash bonus 
based on satisfactory performance where approved by the Board. The senior executives also received equity based 
remuneration in the form of options over the Company’s shares.

Further details on the Company’s policies and practices regarding the remuneration of Directors and senior executives, 
together with details of Director and senior executive remuneration, are provided in the Remuneration Report.

ASX Recommendation 8.3: A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration scheme should:

(a)	� have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions (whether through the use of derivatives or 
otherwise) which limit the economic risk of participating in the scheme; and

(b)	disclose that policy or a summary of it.

The Company has complied with this recommendation.

The Company has a Long-Term Incentive Plan and an Incentive Option Plan which entitle participants to equity-based 
remuneration. Under the Company’s Share Trading Policy a designated person is not permitted to enter into transactions in 
products associated with the Company’s securities which operate to limit the economic risk of their security holding in the 
Company over unvested entitlements (e.g. hedging arrangements).

A copy of the Company’s Share Trading Policy is available in the corporate governance section of the Company’s website 
at www.galaxylithium.com or www.gxy.com
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The Shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 19 March 2018.

TOP TWENTY HOLDERS OF ORDINARY SHARES 

Rank Shareholder

Number of 
Ordinary  

Shares Held
% of issued  

capital
1. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 79,736,109 19.57

2. J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 48,638,227 11.94

3. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 27,006,645 6.63

4. NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 17,269,348 4.24

5. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 9,564,072 2.35

6. CREAT RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED 7,166,983 1.76

7. MR ANTHONY PETER TSE 4,743,729 1.16

8. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 4,048,111 0.99

9. BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 3,588,944 0.88

10. CITOS SUPER PTY LTD <CITOS PTY LTD SF A/C> 3,100,000 0.76

11. MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 2,962,024 0.73

12. MR PHILLIP RICHARD PERRY 2,646,746 0.65

13. PURESTEEL HOLDINGS PTY LTD <RATTIGAN SUPER FUND A/C> 2,455,000 0.60

14. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <COLONIAL FIRST STATE INV A/C> 2,336,642 0.57

15. JAEGER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <THE SHELLCOVE (NSW) A/C> 1,969,712 0.48

16. BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP> 1,934,199 0.47

17. BAINPRO NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 1,851,180 0.45

18. BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <AGENCY LENDING DRP A/C> 1,759,470 0.43

19. BOTSIS HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,600,000 0.39

20. RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE LTD <CLIENTS A/C> 1,551,300 0.38

Total 225,928,441 55.46

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 671B of the 
Corporations Act 2001 are: 

Name

Number of  
Ordinary  

Shares Held
% of issued  

capital
Ausbil Investment Management Limited 32,066,652 7.87

Blackrock Group (Blackrock Inc. and subsidiaries) 26,185,202* 6.62

*Note this number reflects the post consolidation holding as the substantial shareholder notice was lodged prior to consolidation.
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RANGE OF SHARES 

Range Total holders Units
% of issued  

capital
1 to 1,000 9,138 4,518,853 1.11

1,001 to 5,000 8,735 22,862,731 5.61

5,001 to 10,000 2,416 18,400,833 4.52

10,001 to 100,000 2,356 63,639,995 15.62

100,001 and over 264 297,958,178 73.14

Total 22,909 407,380,590 100.00

RANGE OF UNLISTED OPTIONS (ISSUED UNDER INCENTIVE OPTION PLAN) 

The following unlisted options are exercisable at $2.78 each on or before 14 June 2020: 

Range Total holders Units
% of issued  

capital
1 to 1,000 0 0 0.00

1,001 to 5,000 0 0 0.00

5,001 to 10,000 0 0 0.00

10,001 to 100,000 1 100,000 0.59

100,001 and over 20 16,900,000 99.41

Total 21 17,000,000 100.00

RANGE OF SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS (ISSUED UNDER LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN)

Range Total holders Units
% of SARs  

on issue
1 to 1,000 0 0 0.00

1,001 to 5,000 0 0 0.00

5,001 to 10,000 0 0 0.00

10,001 to 100,000 1 100,000 3.23

100,001 and over 6 3,000,000 96.77

Total 7 3,100,000 100.00

VOTING RIGHTS

Galaxy Resources Limited ordinary shares carry voting rights of one vote per share. There are no voting rights attaching to 
any other class of security. 

UNMARKETABLE PARCELS

Minimum Parcel Size Holders Units
Minimum $ 500.00 parcel at $ 3.43 per unit 146 864 68,208

RESTRICTED AND ESCROWED SECURITIES

The Company does not have any restricted securities or securities subject to voluntary escrow on issue. 
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ON-MARKET BUY-BACK

There is no current on-market buy-back.

TENEMENT SCHEDULE AT 19 MARCH 2018

Western Australia

The Galaxy Group has a 100% registered interest in the following tenements located in Western Australia  
(unless noted otherwise):

Project Tenement Percentage Interest and Holder
Ponton E28/1317 (Application) Galaxy Resources Limited

E28/1830 (Application) Galaxy Resources Limited

Chesterfield E51/1602 1 General Mining Corporation Ltd

E51/1603 1 General Mining Corporation Ltd

E51/1604 1 General Mining Corporation Ltd

Bakers Hill E74/0415 Galaxy Resources Limited

E74/0617 (Application) Galaxy Resources Limited

E74/0620 (Application) Galaxy Resources Limited

E74/0621 (Application) Galaxy Resources Limited

West Kundip L74/0047 Galaxy Resources Limited

M74/0133 Galaxy Resources Limited

M74/0238 Galaxy Resources Limited

Mercury Hill M45/0538 General Mining Corporation Ltd

Meekatharra M51/0270 1 General Mining Corporation Ltd

M51/0353 1 General Mining Corporation Ltd

M51/0451 1 General Mining Corporation Ltd

Floater E74/0400 2 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited

Sirdar
E74/0401 2 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited (80%)/

Traka Resources Ltd (20%)

Mt Cattlin L74/0046 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited

L74/0048 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited

M74/0244 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited

P74/0370
Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited (80%)/

Traka Resources Ltd (20%)

P74/0371 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited

P74/0372 Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited

P74/0373
Galaxy Lithium Australia Limited (80%)/

Traka Resources Ltd (20%)

Notes:
1.	� M51/270, M51/353, M51/451, E51/1602, E51/1603, E51/1604 are the subject of a sale agreement which,  

as at 19 March 2018, has not completed.
2.	� E74/400 and E74/401 are subject to an application for a two year extension which has been lodged with the Department of Mines, 

Industry Regulation and Safety.
3.	� Galaxy Lithium Australia Ltd has entered into an agreement to acquire Exploration Licences E74/0379, E74/0399 and E74/0406. 

As at 19 March 2018, the transfer of these tenements was pending registration at the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation  
and Safety.
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Canada 

Galaxy Lithium (Canada) Inc. (GLCI) and Galaxy Lithium (Ontario) Inc. (GLOI) are the registered titleholders of the following 
tenements located in Canada:

Project Mining Title Percentage Interest and Holder

James Bay CDC 2126850 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126851 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126852 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126857 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126858 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126859 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126860 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126861 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126862 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126863 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126864 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126868 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126869 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126870 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126871 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126872 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126873 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126986 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126988 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126989 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2126990 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2183503 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2183504 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2183505 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2183506 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2183507 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2183508 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2192842 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2238478 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2238480 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2298178 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2298179 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329090 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329091 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329092 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329093 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329094 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329095 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329096 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329097 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)
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Project Mining Title Percentage Interest and Holder

James Bay CDC 2329098 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329099 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329100 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329101 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2329102 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2401856 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2401857 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2401858 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2401859 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2402100 GLOI (80%)/GLCI (20%)

CDC 2437961 GLCI (100%)

CDC 2437962 GLCI (100%)

CDC 2437963 GLCI (100%)

CDC 2437964 GLCI (100%)

Argentina

Galaxy Lithium (Sal de Vida) SA is the registered titleholder of the following tenements located in Argentina  
(unless noted otherwise):

Project Tenement (File Number & 100% interest)1

Catamarca La Redonda 4 78-G-1986

Los Patos 210-R-1994

Centenario 261-G-1997

Barreal 1 77-R-1999

Maktub XXIII 27-M-2000

Aurelio 54-R-2000

La Redonda I 55-R-2000

Don Carlos 56-R-2000

Barreal 2 160-G-2002

Redonda 5 161-G-2002

Don pepe 162-G-2002

Agostina 168-G-2002

Chachita 185-G-2002

Delia 398-G-2003

Juan Luis 787-M-2005

Maria Lucia 788-M-2005

Maria Clara 913-M-2005

Maria Clara 1 914-M-2005

El Tordo 1178-G-2006

Quiero vale Cuatro 1179-G-2006

Truco 1197-A-2006

Agustin 1279-G-2006

Luna Blanca 1280-D-2006

Fidel 1281-G-2006

Meme 1430-M-2006

Pachamama 227-G-2007
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Project Tenement (File Number & 100% interest)1

La Primera 289-G-2007

La Segunda 290-G-2007

La Tercera 291-A-2007

China 354-G-2007

Rodolfo 657-G-2009

Luna Blanca II 709-G-2009

Sonqo 754-G-2009

Luna Blanca IV 812-G-2009

Luna Blanca V 813-G-2009

Luna Blanca VI 814-G-2009

Rocio I 815-G-2009

Luna Blanca III 117-G-2010

Beatriz VI 268-G-2010

Nelly VI 269-G-2010

Montserrat I 65-2016

Montserrat 254-G-2011

Salta Estela 1 1215 1

Alex 1 1495 1

Fernando 1 5596 1

Diana 1 13848 1

Gaston I 16741-1999

Gaston II 16810-2000

Valerio 1 17335 1

Gaston III 17392-2001

Maria Cecilia 17529-2002

Lita 17583-2002

Florencia 17584-2002

Nelly 17599-2002

Pablo 17898-2004

Camila 17924-2004

Rocio 18001-2004

Pablo II 18128-2005

Salvador 19562-2009

Salvador II 19579-2009

Papadopulos XXXIV 19669-2009

Papadopulos XXXV 19670-2009

Tabahm 19931-2009

Tabahm 02 19987-2009

Tabahm 05 20024-2009

Ratones Oeste 20877

Catal Norte 21190

Ratones Sur 21655

Ratones Oeste 2 21864

Note:
1.	� The Estela, Fernando, Diana, Valerio and Alex tenements which comprise part of the Salta Project are 100% owned by  

Borax Argentina SA with Galaxy Lithium (Sal de Vida) SA holding the rights to extract brine.
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MINERAL RESERVES AND RESOURCES

The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves for each of the Company’s projects as at 31 December 2017 together  
with a summary of annual review results are detailed below. Comparative tables from 31 December 2016 are provided  
for reference. 

MT CATTLIN PROJECT

Mineral Resource as at 31 December 2017 

Category
Tonnage  

(Mt)
Grade  

(Li20 %)
Grade  

Ta2O5 ppm

Contained  
Li20 metal 

(‘000 Tonnes)

Contained 
Ta2O5 

lbs
In situ Measured 1.74 1.21 195 21.0 750,000

In situ Indicated 6.21 1.26 127 78.2 1,740,000

In situ Inferred 2.35 1.25 181 29.4 940,000

Surface inventory Measured 0.14 0.98 107 1.4 30,000

Surface inventory Indicated 1.18 0.81 64 9.6 167,000

Total 11.62 1.20 141 139.6 3,627,000

Notes:
1.	 Reported at cut-off grade of 0.4 % Li20. 
2.	 All figures rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimates.

Ore Reserve as at 31 December 2017

Category
Tonnage  

(Mt)
Grade  

(Li20 %)
Grade  

Ta2O5 ppm

Contained  
Li20 metal 

(‘000 Tonnes)

Contained 
Ta2O5 

lbs
Proven 1.95 1.03 158 20.4 680,000

Probable 5.69 1.06 89 60.1 1,120,000

Total 7.64 1.05 107 80.5 1,800,000

Notes:
1.	 Reported at cut-off grade of 0.4 % Li20. 
2.	 All figures rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimates.
3.	 Includes mining dilution and mining recovery.
4.	 Reserves include Surface Inventory. 
5.	 Pits further include 315kt of diluted and recovered inferred resources, not included in the tabulation above. 
6.	 Reserves are not additional to resources.
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Mineral Resource as at 31 December 2016 

Category Tonnes Li2O % Ta2O5 ppm Nb2O5 ppm Li2O metal t Ta2O5 Lbs
Measured 2,540,000 1.20 152 92 31,000 853,000

Indicated 9,534,000 1.06 170 85 101,000 3,566,000

Inferred 4,343,000 1.07 132 91 47,000 1,267,000

TOTAL 16,416,000 1.08 157 88 178,000 5,686,000
Total 
M+Indicated

12,073,336 1.09 166 86 131,000 4,419,000

Notes: 
1.	 Figures may not sum due to rounding and significant figures do not imply an added level of precision.
2.	 July 2012 0.4% cut off, depleted for July 2012 EOM surface.

Ore Reserve as at 31 December 2016 

Reserves Tonnes Li2O % Ta2O5 ppm
Proved 2,430,000 1.11 141

Probable 7,544,000 1.02 152

TOTAL 9,974,000 1.04 149

Notes: 
1.	 Figures may not sum due to rounding and significant figures do not imply an added level of precision.
2.	 September 2010, 0.4% cut off, depleted for July 2012 EOM surface.

Summary of annual review results

As announced on 23 March 2018, the Mt Cattlin Project Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve were both depleted for 
mining and processing to December 2017. 

The 31 December 2017 Mineral Resource reflects drilling completed up to December 2017 and is based on an Ordinary 
Kriged estimate established on geological wireframes which have then been used as a bound within which Li2O % grade 
shells have been generated in LeapFrog software using a 0.3% Li2O indicator. The basis on which the 31 December 2017 
Mineral Resource is reported has changed to include Reasonable Prospects of Eventual Economic extraction based on  
a Whittle 4x conceptual pit based on revenue factors of USD900 per dry metric tonne for spodumene concentrate.  
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves include stockpiles produced in the course of mining and beneficiation during 2017. 

Material changes to the 31 December 2017 Ore Reserve are based on the application of mining and processing 
modifying factors from mining reconciliation. These factors are 17% mining dilution, 93% mining recovery, 75% process 
Li2O recovery, a lithium concentrate price of USD650 per dry metric tonne and free on board (FOB) from the Port of 
Esperance. These changes to the modifying factors are based on a reconciliation study reported by Mining Plus Pty Ltd. 
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JAMES BAY PROJECT

Mineral Resource as at 31 December 2017

Category Million Metric Tonnes Li2O % Contained Metal (t)
Indicated 40.3 1.4 564,200

Notes: 
1.	� Reported at a cut-off grade of 0.62 percent Li2O inside conceptual pit shells optimised using spodumene concentrate price of  

US$905 per tonne containing 6.0% Li2O, metallurgical and process recovery of 70%, overall mining and processing costs  
of US$55 per tonne milled and overall pit slope of 50 degrees. 

2.	 All figures rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimates.
3.	 Mineral Resources are not Mineral Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Mineral Resource as at 31 December 2016 (JORC 2004)

Category Million Metric Tonnes Li2O % Contained Metal (t)
Indicated 11.8 1.3 152,750

Inferred 10.4 1.2 125,640

Notes: 
1.	� Reported at a cut-off grade of 0.75 percent Li2O inside conceptual pit shells optimised using Lithium Carbonate price of  

US$6,000 per tonne containing 40.4% Li2O, metallurgical and process recovery of 70%, overall mining and processing costs  
of US$64 per tonne milled and overall pit slope of 45 degrees. 

2.	 All figures rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimates. 
3.	 Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Summary of annual review results

Following completion of the 2017 drilling program, on 4 December 2017 the Company announced a significant upgrade 
to the Mineral Resource at the James Bay Project. The million metric tonnes figure was originally disclosed as 40.82 Mt. 
Subsequent to release of the announcement, rounding of the density applied to the Mineral Resource estimate resulted in a 
revised figure of 40.3 Mt as detailed above. This updated figure does not constitute a material change to the estimate and  
is current as at 31 December 2017. 

The James Bay Project Mineral Resource estimate as at 31 December 2016 was current as at the time the Company 
acquired the James Bay Project and no further work was undertaken from the time of the acquisition to 31 December 2016.
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SAL DE VIDA PROJECT

Mineral Resource as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017 

The Competent Person was engaged to estimate the lithium and potassium resources and reserves in brine for various areas 
within the Salar de Hombre Muerto basin in accordance with the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting 
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ (JORC 2012). Although the JORC 2012 standards do not 
address lithium brines specifically in its guidance documents, the Competent Person followed the NI43 43-101 guidelines 
for lithium brines set forth by the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM 2012) which the Competent 
Person considers complies with the intent of the JORC 2012 guidelines with respect to providing reliable and accurate 
information for the lithium brine deposit in the Salar del Hombre Muerto.

Resource 
Category

Brine 
Volume (m3)

Avg. Li 
(mg/l)

In situ Li 
(tonnes)

Li2CO3 
Equivalent 

(tonnes)
Avg. K 
(mg/l)

In situ K 
(tonnes)

KCl 
Equivalent 

(tonnes)
Measured 7.2 x 108 787 565,000 3,005,000 8,695 6,241,000 11,902,000

Indicated 7.0 x 108 712 501,000 2,665,000 8,021 5,641,000 10,757,000

M+Ind 1.4 x 109 750 1,066,000 5,670,000 8,361 11,882,000 22,659,000

Inferred 3.8 x 108 764 294,000 1,562,000 8,428 3,237,000 6,174,000

TOTAL 
M+Ind+Inf 1.8 x 109 753 1,360,000 7,232,000 8,377 15,119,000 28,833,000

Note: Assumes 500 mg/L Li cut off.

Ore Reserve as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017

Reserve 
Category

Time 
Period

Tonnes 
Li Total Mass

Tonnes 
Li2CO3

Tonnes 
K Total Mass

Tonnes 
Equivalent KCI

Proven 1 - 6 34,000 181,000 332,000 633,000

Probable 7 - 40 180,000 958,000 1,869,000 3,564,000

Total 40 years total 214,000 1,139,000 2,201,000 4,197,000

Notes: 
1.	 Assumes 500 mg/L Li cut off.
2.	� Total tonnages for the economic Ore Reserve values above account for anticipated leakage and process losses of lithium  

and potassium. 
3.	� The results above are the Proven and Probable Reserves from the Southwest and East well fields when these percent estimated 

processing losses are factored in, assuming a continuous average brine extraction rate of 30,000 m3/d. 
4.	 The conversion factor for Lithium to Lithium Carbonate is: x 5.3228. 
5.	 The conversion factor for Potassium to Potassium Chloride is: x 1.907.

Summary of annual review results

No further Mineral Resource or Ore Reserve estimation work was undertaken at the Sal de Vide Project during the year 
and there was no material change to the Mineral Resource or Ore Reserve to 31 December 2017.
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CONTROLS AND GOVERNANCE 

Galaxy ensures that quoted Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimates are subject to governance arrangements  
and internal controls at both site and corporate levels. Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves are estimated in accordance 
with the JORC Code. 

The Company continues to develop its internal systems and controls in order to maintain JORC compliance in all external 
reporting, including the preparation of all reported data by Competent Persons as members of the Australasian Institute  
of Mining and Metallurgy or a ‘Recognised Professional Organisation’ (RPO). As set out below, the Mineral Resource  
and Ore Reserve statements included in this Annual Report were reviewed by suitably qualified Competent Persons prior  
to their inclusion. 

COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENTS

Mt Cattlin Project

The information in this Annual Report that relates to the Mt Cattlin 31 December 2017 Exploration Results is based on 
information compiled by Albert Thamm, M.Sc. F.Aus.IMM (CP), a Competent Person who is a Corporate Member  
of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Albert Thamm is a full-time employee and shareholder of  
Galaxy Resources Limited. Albert Thamm has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type  
of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 
2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’.  
Albert Thamm consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in 
which it appears.

The information in this Annual Report that relates to the Mt Cattlin 31 December 2017 Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves is based on information compiled by David Billington, B. Eng. (Mining), a Competent Person who is a Member  
of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. David Billington is a full-time employee of Mining Plus Pty Ltd.  
David Billington has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. David Billington consents to 
the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

The information in this Annual Report that relates to the Mt Cattlin 31 December 2016 Mineral Resource is based on 
information compiled by Robert Spiers B Sc. (Hons), Competent Person who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy. Robert Spiers is a full-time employee of Spiers Geological Consultants Pty Ltd. Robert Spiers has 
sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity 
being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting 
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Robert Spiers consents to the inclusion in this report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

The information in this Annual Report that relates to the Mt Cattlin 31 December 2016 Ore Reserves is based on 
information compiled by Roselt Croeser M.SC. (Eng), Competent Person who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy. Roselt Croeser is a full-time employee of Croeser Pty Ltd. Roselt Croeser has sufficient experience 
that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken 
to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Roselt Croeser consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based  
on his information in the form and context in which it appears.
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James Bay Project

The information in this Annual Report that relates to the James Bay 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017 Mineral 
Resources is based on information compiled by Dominic Chartier P.Geo. and Sebastien Bernier, P. Geo, Competent Persons 
who are both Members of the Ordre des Geologues du Quebec, a ‘Recognised Professional Organisation’ (RPO).  
Dominic Chartier and Sebastien Bernier are both full-time employees of SRK Canada Inc. Dominic Chartier and Sebastien 
Bernier have sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and 
to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code 
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Dominic Chartier and Sebastien Bernier consent 
to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in which it appears.

Sal de Vida Project

The information in this Annual Report that relates to the Sal de Vide 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017  
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves is based on information compiled by Michael Rosko, MS PG. Michael Rosko 
has more than 30 years of relevant experience and is a Registered Member of the Society for Mining, Metallurgy 
& Exploration, Inc (SME), a ‘Recognised Professional Organisation’ (RPO). Michael Rosko is a full-time employee of 
Montgomery & Associates Consultores Limitada and has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined 
in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. 
Michael Rosko consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in 
which it appears.
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Galaxy Resources Limited 
ABN: 11 071 976 442 
Email: reception@galaxylithium.com

www.galaxylithium.com 
www.gxy.com

78
87

1 
ac

or
nd

es
ig

n.
co

m
.a

u


